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Management Report

Regulatory business model
Legal and regulatory environment
The electricity industry’s value chain can basically be divided into 
the following areas: electricity generation, electricity transmission, 
electricity distribution and electricity consumption. As the owner 
and operator of Switzerland’s extra-high-voltage grid, Swissgrid is 
responsible for electricity transmission.

The high investments for the construction of the transmission 
system, rising economies of scale (in view of falling marginal costs) 
and high irreversible costs result in a natural monopoly in the 
area of electricity transmission. This has been structured as a legal 
monopoly by the legislator based on the Electricity Supply Act 
(StromVG) and the Electricity Supply Ordinance (StromVV).

The Federal Electricity Commission ElCom oversees compli-
ance with the Electricity Supply Act and the Electricity Supply 
Ordinance. It is the independent state regulatory authority in the 
electricity industry and is allowed to issue rulings where necessary, 
against which there is a right of appeal to the Federal Adminis
trative Court with the possibility of appeal to the Federal Supreme 
Court.

Given the public interest in the secure national supply of 
electricity, the resulting legislation and relevant supervision by the 
regulator, Swissgrid’s business activities are overwhelmingly 
subject to strict regulation.

Business activity
As the National Grid Company, Swissgrid is responsible for the 
non-discriminatory, reliable and efficient operation of the trans
mission grid as well as its sustainable and efficient maintenance. 
The renovation and demand-driven expansion of Switzerland’s 
extra-high-voltage grid are also considered amongst the company’s 
most important tasks.

Swissgrid also provides additional services, such as balance 
group and congestion management or ancillary services (AS) as part 
of the European and Swiss grid operations. In addition to represent-
ing national interests, Swissgrid makes an important contribution to 
ensuring the secure supply of electricity for Switzerland.

This Management Report covers both the requirements 
pursuant to Art. 961c CO (Code of Obligations) in connection 
with the statutory financial statements as well as the provi-
sions on the “Annual Report” relating to the financial state-
ments in accordance with the Swiss GAAP FER (Swiss GAAP 
FER framework concept, paragraphs 7 and 34). 

Cost-plus regulation
Swissgrid’s legal mandate and business activities expose the 
company to costs that can be passed on to the lower grid levels and 
end consumers in the form of tariff revenues if the regulator deems 
the costs to be chargeable. ElCom performs an ex post review of 
the chargeability of the costs for Swissgrid.

Chargeable costs include the operating and capital costs of 
maintaining a secure and efficient grid. Chargeable costs also 
include an adequate operating profit. As a result, this is referred to 
as “cost-plus” regulation: “cost” stands for the cost recovery 
principle and “plus” stands for the operating profit.

Chargeable operating and capital costs
Chargeable operating costs include the costs for services directly 
related to the operation of the grid. Examples include costs for 
maintaining the grid, costs for providing the ancillary services, 
personnel expenses, costs for materials and third-party supplies as 
well as direct income taxes.

Chargeable capital costs include depreciation/amortisation and 
imputed interest. The amount of imputed interest is directly 
dependent on the assets required to operate the grid (invested 
operating assets, IOA) and the applicable regulatory interest rate 
(WACCt+0). WACCt+0 means that the WACC specified for this year 
also applies to the current financial year. 

In particular, the IOA consists of the transmission grid assets 
(including construction in progress), intangible assets as well as the 
net current assets determined on a monthly basis.



15

Volume- and tariff-related timing differences
Swissgrid calculates the required tariff revenues ex ante based on 
budgeted costs (operating and capital costs). Volume and price 
differences between the “actual” situation for a year and the 
“budgeted” situation for the same year regularly lead to differences 
between the actual costs and actual income for a year. These 
differences are referred to as volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences and are rectified over the coming years.

If effective costs exceed the tariff revenues for the same year, 
this results in a deficit. This deficit can be eliminated over sub
sequent years by increasing the tariff. By contrast, if tariff revenues 
exceed effective costs for the same year, this results in a surplus, 
which must be used to reduce tariffs over subsequent years. 

Volume- and tariff-related timing differences are also subject to 
interest at the WACC rate and have an impact on capital costs. In 
contrast to the IOA, volume- and tariff-related timing differences are 
subject to interest at WACCt+2. Deficits increase capital costs, while 
surpluses reduce them.

Profit regulation
The legal framework in place for Swissgrid means that the EBI 
(earnings before interest) of the regulated business area is 
essentially a multiplication of the invested operating assets (IOA) 
with the capital cost rate (WACCt+0) and the interest applied to the 
volume- and tariff-related timing differences (WACCt+2). Additional 
profits may arise from Swissgrid’s unregulated business area.

The EBI is then used to compensate Swissgrid’s stakeholders via 
interest on liabilities and return on equity (dividends and/or profit 
retention). The cost-plus regulation therefore leads to a return in the 
amount of the capital cost rates to be applied. 

Imputed capital cost rate (WACC)
The WACC is an imputed interest rate defined annually based 
on the electricity supply legislation. It applies equally to all grid 
operators.

The WACC is calculated methodically taking account of the 
current Best Practice guidelines provided by the Federal Depart-
ment of the Environment, Transport, Energy and Communications 
(DETEC). The methodology was developed specifically for 
the regulation of electricity grid operators and intends to ensure 
security of investment for these operators. With regard to the 
financing structure, the WACC calculation assumes an equity 
share of 40 per cent and a borrowed capital share of 60 per cent. 
Specific thresholds apply for the individual capital cost parameters.

As the WACC represents an imputed interest rate for the 
electricity industry, Swissgrid’s actual capital costs are not 
included in the tariff calculation. On the other hand, this means 
that Swissgrid is responsible for determining how the imputed 
interest received via the tariffs is distributed to shareholders and 
lenders.

Regulated EBIT Tariff-related costs Volume-and tariff-related timing
differences

+	 Invested operating assets*
×	 WACCt+0

+	 �Volume-and tariff-related timing 
differences

×	 WACCt+2

Regulated EBI
+	 Taxes

Regulated EBIT

* �Consisting of property, plant and equipment,  

intangible assets and net current assets.

+	 Procurement costs
+	 Operating expenses
+	� Depreciation/amortisation and 

impairment losses
+	 Regulated EBIT
 
Chargeable costs (budgeted)
+/−	Tariff-related  

Volume-and tariff-related timing 
differences

Regulated operating income
(budgeted)

+	� Regulated operating income 
(actual)

−	 Chargeable costs (actual)

Change in volume- and tariff-related
timing differences (actual)

Volume- and tariff-related timing
difference as at 1 January (actual)
+/−	Change in volume- and tariff

related timing differences (actual)
Volume- and tariff-related timing dif
ference as at 31 December (actual)

Illustration of the regulatory business model
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Business performance  
(values pursuant to Swiss GAAP FER)

Procurement costs
At CHF 224.9 million, procurement costs are CHF 38.5 million 
lower than the previous year’s value of CHF 263.4 million. This 
decrease is primarily due to the CHF 24.9 million reduction in 
costs for AS energy in the general ancillary services segment, and 
the CHF 18.1 million drop in procurement costs in the active 
power losses segment. By contrast, costs in the grid utilisation 
segment increased due to higher additional remuneration for 
operating and capital costs to former transmission system owners 
(CHF 15.6 million).

Operating expenses and depreciation/amortisation
Operating expenses amounted to CHF 200.9 million, CHF 16 mil-
lion higher than the previous year’s value of CHF 184.9 million.

CHF 9.6 million of the increase in operating costs is attributable 
to the materials and third-party supplies item, while personnel 
expenses account for CHF 7.1 million. By contrast, other operating 
expenses fell by CHF 0.7 million year-on-year.

The materials and third-party supplies item rose due to a 
one-off remuneration for easements and higher costs for mixed-
use plants. The entry into force of the provisions under the federal 
law “Electricity Grid Strategy” on 1 June 2019 was accompanied 
by  the entry into force of Art. 15, paragraph 2, letter c of the 
Federal Electricity Supply Act (StromVG), according to which 
one-off remuneration for easements is reported in operating 
expenses and can no longer be capitalised. 

The increase in personnel expenses can be explained by 
workforce growth in the 2019 financial year. The annual average 
number of full-time equivalents amounts to 498 FTE (previous 
year: 460.8 FTE).

The scheduled depreciation/amortisation on property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets amounted to CHF 156.9 million 
in the financial year, an increase of CHF 10.6 million on the previous 
year. While the scheduled depreciation/amortisation of intangible 
assets was similar to last year, the scheduled depreciation/
amortisation of property, plant and equipment increased by 
CHF 8.9 million.

Besides scheduled depreciation/amortisation, Swissgrid had to 
recognise impairment losses of CHF 31.6 million in 2019. This is 
primarily due to ElCom’s ruling in the proceedings on the system 
audit (CHF 25.4 million) and a ruling by the Federal Administrative 
Court in relation to a third party (CHF 4.5 million), which is also 
relevant to Swissgrid.

Revenue and volume- and tariff-related timing differences 
For the 2019 financial year, net turnover across all segments 
amounts to CHF 672.7 million. Net turnover of CHF 907.9 million 
was recorded in the previous year. The CHF 235.2 million decline 
in turnover is spread across the grid utilisation, general ancillary 
services and reactive energy segments. The largest drop was 
reported by the grid utilisation segment, with a decrease of 
CHF 184.9 million. The reasons for this are lower tariff revenues of 
CHF 89.8 million and lower income from auctions for the reduction 
of chargeable grid costs (CHF 88.6 million). Lower tariff revenue is 
also responsible for the fall in net turnover in the two other 
segments. By contrast, net turnover in the active power losses 
segment increased by CHF 29.5 million due to higher tariff revenue 
and higher income from ITC.

In the 2019 financial year, the operating business activities 
reported net deficits (cumulative deficits less cumulative 
surpluses) of CHF 18.4 million. In particular, the grid utilisation 
segment posted deficits of CHF 21.6 million in operating activities 
due to the fall in turnover. By contrast, volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences of CHF 33 million had to be reversed due 
to ElCom’s ruling in the proceedings on the system audit, while 
a further CHF 3.7 million in volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences had to be reversed due to other regulatory effects. As 
at 31 December 2019, a net surplus of CHF 52.8 million exists 
(previous year: CHF 34.5 million).

EBIT, financial income and net income
Earnings before interests and taxes (EBIT) from activities relating 
to the Federal Electricity Supply Act (StromVG) are equivalent to 
the interest applied to the assets required to operate the transmis-
sion system using the weighted average cost of capital rate 
(WACC) for the current year under review (= WACCt+0) and the 
interest applied to the volume- and tariff-related timing differences 
using the weighted average cost of capital rate of WACCt+2 plus 
income taxes. The weighted average cost of capital rates for 2019 
(WACCt+0) and 2021 (WACCt+2) defined by the Federal Department 
of Environment, Transport, Energy and Communications (DETEC) 
for the 2019 financial year remain unchanged at 3.83%.

EBIT fell by CHF 17.0 million against 2018, to CHF 102.4 mil-
lion, due to lower invested operating assets and higher net surpluses 
compared to the previous year.

The additional partial repayment of convertible loans at the start 
of the 2019 financial year, followed by refinancing under more 
favourable conditions in the autumn of 2019, once again led to 
lower financial expenses compared to 2018.

Net income in 2019 amounts to CHF 28.8 million, which is less 
than the CHF 65.6 million posted the previous year. This decrease 
in profit is due to adjustments for the years from 2011 and 2013 
to 2019 in line with ElCom’s ruling of 12 December 2019 on the 
system audit, and to the financial impact of additional regulatory 
effects on net income.
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Balance sheet and cash flow statement
Total assets (excluding fiduciary positions) fell by CHF 10.9 million 
compared to the previous year to CHF 2.994 billion. The absolute 
equity base was strengthened slightly by the grid takeover on 
3 January 2019 and the positive net income less dividends paid. 
Adjusted for the balance sheet items held on a fiduciary basis and 
net volume- and tariff-related timing differences, the equity ratio on 
31 December 2019 amounts to 38.3%, compared to 38.0% on 
31 December 2018. 

In 2019, cash flow from operating activities amounts to 
CHF 278.8 million, compared to the previous year’s value of 
CHF 451.2 million, a decrease of CHF 172.4 million. This decrease 
is due to the lower net turnover year-on-year.

Cash flow from investing activities amounts to CHF 112 million 
in the year under review, a CHF 146.7 million decrease on the 
previous year. This is attributable to a CHF 101.4 million decline in 
investments in property, plant and equipment. In addition, 
Swissgrid was obliged to use income from auctions amounting to 
CHF 40.1 million for grid investments in 2019, as ordered by 
ElCom. No income from auctions had to be used for this purpose 
in the previous financial year. 

Cash flow from financing activities decreased by CHF 115.8 mil-
lion to CHF 95.3 million year-on-year. This is due to the placement 
of a CHF 125 million bond on 30 September 2019.

Risk assessment
Risk management is an integral part of effective and prudent 
corporate management for Swissgrid. Swissgrid’s risk management 
covers the entire organisation, not including its subsidiaries and 
shareholdings. It is based on the established ISO 31000 and 
COSO ERM standards and meets the requirements of corporate 
governance as well as the requirements under Swiss law.

Objectives
The Risk Management unit assists managers at all tiers in con-
sciously dealing with risks. This includes expedient and transparent 
reporting as well as managing and documenting an appropriate risk 
management system. Swissgrid fosters the deliberate management 
of risks at all levels of the company.

Organisation
The Board of Directors has defined the governance requirements 
for risk management and delegated its implementation to the CEO. 
The head of Enterprise Risk Management manages the risk 
management process, provides the methods and advises the 
operating units on risk management.

Process
The risk assessment takes place twice a year. The key risks are 
identified and assessed as part of a multi-stage process that 
includes the evaluation of risks based on the probability of their 
occurrence and the extent of their impact, as well as the definition 
of strategies to manage said risks. If Swissgrid identifies a material 
risk outside this regular process, the risk is assessed immediately. 
A risk strategy as well as necessary measures are defined.

Risk monitoring, including the effectiveness and level of 
implementation of the measures taken, is performed as part of 
regular risk updates. The Executive Board and the Board of 
Directors receive the results of the risk assessment and the risk 
updates in the form of a standardised report.

Risk situation
The risk profile for the 2019 financial year has not changed 
significantly compared to the previous year. After the 2019 balance 
sheet date, the impact on the risk profile has changed due to 
COVID-19. The other risk drivers are natural influences, the national 
and international political and regulatory environment as well as 
personnel and technical factors. Digitisation is enabling more 
efficient operation of the transmission grid, but also involves risks to 
grid and system security and therefore to the security of supply, 
given the increasing dependence on systems. 
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To reduce this risk, Swissgrid is continuously developing its 
processes and systems to detect cyber threats early and defend 
itself against them.

Security of supply also depends on the availability of control 
and redispatch services to balance short-term deviations between 
production and consumption, and to control grid congestion. 
Swissgrid therefore works continuously to optimise the Swiss 
market for ancillary services, and cooperates with transmission 
system operators in neighbouring countries to increase market 
liquidity. 

Swissgrid has emergency procedures in place in the highly 
unlikely event that critical infrastructures or systems fail perma-
nently or the grid can no longer be controlled.

Personnel safety
Swissgrid’s operation and maintenance of the extra-high-voltage 
infrastructure involves risk to personnel safety. People can be 
seriously injured while performing their work. To minimise this risk 
to the greatest extent possible, Swissgrid systematically identifies 
present dangers, implements targeted protective measures, trains 
its own employees and instructs contractor employees so they can 
independently identify the dangers posed at plants and respond 
accordingly. 

Systematic controls on construction sites help to ensure 
compliance with site safety precautions. A company-wide 
awareness campaign boosts awareness of the risks to personnel 
safety.

Financial risks
Swissgrid’s activities mean that it is exposed to various financial 
risks. These include liquidity, foreign currency, interest rate and 
counterparty risks. 

Liquidity is always ensured by continuous planning and 
monitoring of the funding requirements, maintenance of minimum 
liquidity levels and committed bank credit facilities.

Foreign currency risk is reduced through natural hedging and 
forward exchange transactions. The hedging strategy is reviewed 
periodically and updated as needed.

The risk of interest rate changes is reduced by staggering the 
maturities and establishing a balanced financing mix. Derivative 
financial instruments are deployed for further mitigation.

Financial counterparties are constantly reviewed, assigned 
individual limits and monitored. Operational counterparties are 
regularly monitored.

COVID-19 pandemic
The coronavirus pandemic puts the health of all Swissgrid 
employees at risk. Furthermore, there is a risk for the grid operation. 
Swissgrid has already taken the necessary measures at an early 
stage in order to ensure secure grid operation and best protect its 

The key risk factors are:

European and regulatory environment
Swissgrid’s role remains challenging at a national and international 
level. Due to the lack of an electricity agreement with the EU, the 
Swiss electricity system finds itself increasingly excluded from 
important processes affecting grid security in Europe. This leads to 
unscheduled flows of electricity through the Swiss grid and 
jeopardises both system stability and import capacity in the 
medium term. There is also the risk of exclusion from the planned 
European control energy partnerships as well as from ENTSO-E, 
the European Network of Transmission System Operators. 
Swissgrid is developing a technical solution to ensure the stability 
of the grid, but is reliant on political support in this respect. 
Although there have been some encouraging signals from the EU in 
this regard, success is not guaranteed as there are political factors 
to resolve that fall outside the control of Swissgrid and Switzerland.

Implementation of the “Strategic Grid 2025”
Important activities relating to the “Strategic Grid 2025” continue 
to be hampered by protracted approval processes and numerous 
objections. This makes it more difficult to eliminate grid congestion. 
Swissgrid is striving to establish dialogue, particularly with local 
residents, during the approval process. However, given the 
ever-decreasing acceptance of overhead lines, Swissgrid still has to 
factor in objections and delayed approval processes.

Security of supply
A wide-scale supply outage would cause enormous economic 
damage. As a result, Swissgrid must ensure that the transmission 
grid is available to supply electricity at all times. It is therefore 
essential to have an intact grid infrastructure and to secure the 
availability of IT and communication systems. Meeting these 
prerequisites can be jeopardised by, for example, technical 
problems, natural disasters, operating errors and criminal actions. 
Among other measures, Swissgrid mitigates these risks by imple-
menting redundancies and processes to eliminate faults in grid 
systems and in system operations.

Adequate training and development of personnel ensures that 
employees respond appropriately.

Swissgrid takes precautions to adequately protect the 
infrastructure and plants against physical attacks. These include 
reinforcing buildings as well as access control and perimeter 
monitoring. This ensures that access is only granted to authorised 
persons. 

The threat of cyber attacks is steadily rising due to the speed at 
which technology changes (which potential attackers also exploit), 
the countless possible modes of attack, as well as growing system 
integration across companies.
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employees. Swissgrid assesses the current situation on an ongoing 
basis, taking into account the information and instructions issued by 
the competent authorities and follows a pandemic emergency plan.

Future prospects
Strategic outlook
As was the case in 2019, Swissgrid will continue to focus on 
implementing Strategy 2022 in the coming years. This defines four 
areas of focus: the safety of people, systems and the environment; 
integrated plant and system operation; the intelligent use of new 
technologies; and close cooperation with partners in Switzerland 
and Europe.

Swissgrid is focused on the following when it comes to safety 
and security: the company is consistently implementing its 
planned measures to deliver better physical protection of substa-
tions as well as in relation to cyber security, such as launching a 
campaign to raise awareness amongst employees. Swissgrid and 
all its service providers comply with high safety standards to ensure 
the protection of persons. 

By integrating plant and system operation, Swissgrid is building 
the foundation for continued gains in efficiency and professional-
ism. This involves improving processes between the market and 
grid operation, while also implementing a new business model in 
plant management to increase capacities for upgrading, expanding 
and maintaining the grid. 

Both transmission grid upgrades and the use of new technolo-
gies help secure the reliable transmission of energy. Digitisation 
and automation allow better use to be made of the existing grid 
infrastructure. In 2020, Swissgrid will also set up a new geoinfor
mation system as a central platform for analysing and mapping 
georeferenced data and information on the grid. At the same time, 
the company is also working to optimise visualisation of the grid 
status and developing a crowd balancing platform. 

The strategic focus placed on close cooperation with partners 
in Switzerland and Europe aims to ensure that Switzerland retains 
its access to the European internal electricity market. Swissgrid will 
continue to ramp up its committee work in 2020 to secure 
cooperation at the technical level: the company is committed to 
implementing the SAFA (Synchronous Area Framework Agree-
ment), the framework agreement for European transmission 
system operators. Similarly, Swissgrid will be ready to participate 
in the TERRE control energy cooperation in 2020.

Research and development
Swissgrid collaborates with national and international research 
institutions to ensure that it can continue performing its duties 
safely and cost-effectively in the future. Its project portfolio is 

aligned with its strategic goals, and consists of internal activities 
and projects being conducted in cooperation with universities and 
other national and international partners.

Financial outlook
Grid investments
Investment volumes are expected to remain high, ranging from 
CHF 150 million to CHF 250 million a year, due to the need to 
achieve a sustainable energy future and carry out the measures 
defined in the “Strategic Grid 2025” report. The budget has been 
assigned a lower likelihood of realisation due to persistent 
restrictions, particularly those regarding permits for power line 
construction and modification. As such, Swissgrid currently 
expects to invest approximately CHF 150 million to CHF 200 mil- 
lion a year in the grid over the medium term.

Operating costs
Swissgrid continues to implement its Strategy 2022, as communi-
cated in the spring of 2018. This includes efficiency increases as 
well as measures to secure the supply of electricity and improve 
the safety of people, systems and the environment. Implementing 
these measures will lead to a rise in operating costs.

EBIT and net income 
Based on the regulatory business model, EBIT is particularly 
dependent on the invested operating assets (IOA) and the 
weighted average capital cost rate (WACC). The WACC communi-
cated by the Federal Department of Environment, Transport, 
Energy and Communications (DETEC) for 2020 remains unchanged 
at 3.83%. As a result, EBIT and net income for 2020 are expected to 
reach the level achieved in 2019, before the regulatory effects to  
be taken into account in 2019. In the long-run, in accordance with 
the dividend policy approved by the Board of Directors, the income 
generated will be retained on a pro rata basis depending on 
the equity ratio and the financing situation. This enables to 
safeguard Swissgrid’s long-term financial stability. The financial 
impact of COVID-19 on Swissgrid currently cannot be assessed. 
However, due to the regulatory business model, no significant 
impact is expected on net income in 2020. 

Grid acquisitions
The ElCom ruling issued on 20 October 2016 definitively estab-
lished the method for determining the assessed value of the 
transmission system. The first remuneration based on this method 
was issued on 3 January 2017. The final remuneration owed under 
this method cannot be determined until all valuation proceedings 
have been finally adjudicated. The financial consequences  
are difficult to predict at this time. However, the outcome of the 
proceedings has no direct impact on Swissgrid’s income. 
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Income statement

Earnings per share

Financial statements 
Swiss GAAP FER

The dilution arises from the potential conversion of the convertible loans 
to equity. Assuming that conversion had taken place on 1 January of the 
reporting year, the interest expense would have been reduced by 
CHF 21.9 million (previous year: CHF 27.5 million). Given that income 
taxes are chargeable in Swissgrid’s regulated business model, the 

conversion would have increased net income by CHF 21.9 million (previ-
ous year: CHF 27.5 million). At the same time, the average number of 
shares outstanding would also have increased by 165,521,412 units 
(previous year: 214,045,206 units). No dilution occurred in 2019 
(previous year: potential dilution of CHF −0.03 per share).

CHF 2019 2018

Net income 28,821,764 65,636,044 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 319,374,832 318,134,905 

Non-diluted earnings per share 0.09 0.21 

Dilution from the conversion of the convertible loans – –0.03 

Diluted earnings per share 0.09 0.18 

In millions of CHF Notes 2019 2018

Net turnover 4, 5 672.7 907.9 

Other operating income 4, 6 13.0 12.8 

Change in volume- and tariff-related timing differences 4, 16 18.4 –221.3 

Capitalised self-constructed assets 12.6 14.6 

Total operating income 716.7 714.0 

Procurement costs 4, 5 224.9 263.4 

Gross profit 491.8 450.6 

Cost of materials and third-party supplies 7 82.5 72.9 

Personnel expenses 8 89.7 82.6 

Other operating expenses 9 28.7 29.4 

Earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortisation 290.9 265.7 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 14 125.1 116.2 

Amortisation on intangible assets 14 31.8 30.1 

Impairment losses 14 31.6 – 

Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT) 4 102.4 119.4 

Financial income 10 1.2 0.8 

Financial expenses 11 33.6 39.3 

Ordinary result 70.0 80.9 

Extraordinary expenses 12 36.7 – 

Earnings before income taxes 33.3 80.9 

Income taxes 13 4.5 15.3 

Net income 28.8 65.6 
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Balance sheet
Assets

Equity and liabilities
In millions of CHF Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Share capital 320.4 318.1 

Capital reserves 410.0 404.5 

Retained earnings 379.5 383.5 

Total equity 1,109.9 1,106.1 

Non-current financial liabilities 21 1,040.5 1,425.6 

Non-current provisions 22 26.8 30.0 

Non-current surpluses arising from volume-and tariff-related timing differences 16 120.2 123.9 

Non-current liabilities 1,187.5 1,579.5 

Liabilities held on a fiduciary basis 17 14.8 17.9 

Current financial liabilities 21 519.2 145.2 

Trade accounts payable 67.2 70.0 

Other liabilities 23 5.0 6.4 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 24 72.3 88.9 

Current provisions 22 3.3 2.5 

Current surpluses arising from volume-and tariff-related timing differences 16 29.6 6.3 

Current liabilities 711.4 337.2 

Total liabilities 1,898.9 1,916.7 

Equity and liabilities 3,008.8 3,022.8 

In millions of CHF Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Property, plant and equipment 14 2,338.1 2,372.1 

Intangible assets 14 150.9 166.3 

Financial assets 15 8.8 10.7 

Long-term deficits arising from volume- and tariff-related timing differences 16 62.0 91.8 

Non-current assets 2,559.8 2,640.9 

Assets held on a fiduciary basis 17 14.8 17.9 

Short-term deficits arising from volume- and tariff-related timing differences 16 35.0 3.9 

Inventory 1.2 1.3 

Trade accounts receivable 18 119.0 142.7 

Other receivables 19 1.7 1.5 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 20 48.2 57.0 

Cash and cash equivalents 229.1 157.6 

Current assets 449.0 381.9 

Assets 3,008.8 3,022.8 
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 Cash flow statement

Other expenses not affecting revenue and expenditure
This item is comprised of the reversal of the volume- and tariff-
related timing differences (CHF 36.7 million) reported in the 
income statement and the share of the employer contribution 
reserve used in 2019 (CHF 1.9 million).

Investing and financing activities not affecting cash
The purchase consideration of CHF 26.2 million for the transfer 
of additional parts of the transmission grid was settled 30% in 
Swissgrid shares and 70% in loans (cf. Note 14).

In millions of CHF, excluding balance sheet items held on fiduciary basis Notes 2019 2018

Net income 28.8 65.6 

Financial expenses 11 33.6 39.3 

Financial income 10 –1.2 –0.8 

Current income taxes 13 7.1 17.0 

Depreciation and amortisation 14 156.9 146.3 

Impairment losses 14 31.6 – 

Other expenses not affecting revenue and expenditure 38.6 – 

Gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets –0.2 – 

Change in provisions 22 –2.4 –3.2 

Change in inventory 0.1 0.8 

Change in trade accounts receivable 23.7 15.5 

Change in other receivables –0.2 1.0 

Change in prepaid expenses and accrued income 8.8 –7.5 

Change in volume- and tariff-related timing differences 4, 16 –18.4 221.3 

Change in trade accounts payable –2.8 16.5 

Change in other current liabilities –1.4 –7.0 

Change in accrued expenses and deferred income –3.4 –29.0 

Income taxes paid –20.4 –24.6 

Cash flow from operating activities 278.8 451.2 

Gross investments in property, plant and equipment –136.8 –238.2 

Congestion proceeds received for grid investments 40.1 – 

Net investments in property, plant and equipment 14 –96.7 –238.2 

Divestment in property, plant and equipment 0.2 1.0 

Investments in intangible assets 14 –16.2 –26.1 

Divestment in intangible assets – 3.9 

Investments in financial assets –0.2 – 

Divestment in financial assets – 0.1 

Dividends received 0.9 0.6 

Cash flow from investing activities –112.0 –258.7 

Change in current financial liabilities –154.4 –143.1 

Issuing of bonds 125.0 – 

Interest paid –33.1 –38.6 

Dividends paid –32.8 –29.4 

Cash flow from financing activities –95.3 –211.1 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 71.5 –18.6 

Composition

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 157.6 176.2 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 229.1 157.6 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 71.5 –18.6 
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Statement of changes in equity

The share capital consists of 320,398,149 (prior year: 
318,141,670) fully paid-up registered shares with a par value of 
CHF 1 per share. As at 31 December 2019, Swissgrid has condi-
tional share capital of a maximum of CHF 127,036,489, divided 
into 127,036,489 registered shares with a par value of CHF 1 per 
share (previous year: CHF 128,400,912, divided into 128,400,912 
registered shares with a par value of CHF 1). 

Capital increase based on contributions in kind 
The share capital was increased by CHF 0.9 million to enable the 
transfer of additional parts of the transmission grid as of 3 Janu-
ary 2019. The issue price was CHF 3.0 million. 

Capital increase from conditional capital 
The change to the Articles of Association to create conditional share 
capital of CHF 127.0 million was entered into the commercial 
register on 3 January 2019. The conditional capital was created to 
exercise conversion rights to be assigned to creditors of convertible 
loans. In November 2019, conditional share capital was used to 
perform a capital increase with a nominal value of CHF 1.4 million 
(valuation adjustment 1). The issue price was CHF 4.8 million. The 
amount of the capital increase corresponds to the value after 
recognising the equity transaction costs (CHF 0.02 million) as a 
reduction in capital reserves.

In millions of CHF Share capital Capital reserves Retained earnings Total equity

Balance at 31.12.2017 317.9 404.0 347.3 1,069.2 

Allocation – – – – 

Dividends paid – – –29.4 –29.4 

Capital increases (minus transaction costs) 0.2 0.5 – 0.7 

Net income 2018 – – 65.6 65.6 

Balance at 31.12.2018 318.1 404.5 383.5 1,106.1 

Allocation – – – – 

Dividends paid – – –32.8 –32.8 

Capital increases (minus transaction costs) 2.3 5.5 – 7.8 

Net income 2019 – – 28.8 28.8 

Balance at 31.12.2019 320.4 410.0 379.5 1,109.9 
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Notes

1.	 Accounting principles

General information
The 2019 financial statements of Swissgrid Ltd (hereinafter: 
Swissgrid) have been prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP 
FER. The financial statements provide a true and fair view of the 
company’s assets, financial position and results of operations.

Changes in accounting estimates  ElCom concluded the adminis-
trative proceedings on the system audit launched in 2016 by 
issuing a ruling in 2019. In particular, ElCom ruled that Swissgrid is 
required to adjust the methodology for calculating and applying 
interest to volume- and tariff-related timing differences. This results 
in lower imputed interest of CHF 1.1 million for the 2019 financial 
year compared to the previous calculation methodology.

The entry into force of the provisions of the “Electricity Grid 
Strategy” federal law on 1 June 2019 was accompanied by the entry 
into force of Art. 15, paragraph 2, letter c of the Federal Electricity 
Supply Act (StromVG), according to which one-off remuneration for 
easements is reported in operating expenses and can no longer be 
capitalised in intangible assets. As a result of this legal provision, 
easements of CHF 8.6 million were assigned to operating costs from 
1 June 2019.

In a ruling issued to a third party in 2019, the Federal Adminis-
trative Court decided that dismantling costs for old plants are not 
part of the regulatory asset values for replacement plants. In 
response to this decision, Swissgrid adapted its capitalisation 
process.

Conversion of foreign currency items
The accounting records are maintained in local currency (Swiss 
francs, CHF). All monetary assets and liabilities recognised in 
foreign currencies are converted at the exchange rate as of the 
balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are 
converted at the exchange rate on the day the transaction took 
place. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from transac-
tions in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement 
and are presented in the same line item as the underlying 
transaction. 

Cash flow statement
Cash and cash equivalents form the basis for the presentation of 
the cash flow statement. The cash flow from operating activities is 
calculated using the indirect method.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised in the income statement upon performance 
of Swissgrid’s obligations. For activities regulated under the Federal 
Electricity Supply Act (StromVG), the measurement of performance 
is based mainly on energy volumes directly metered on the 
transmission grid or reported from downstream grid levels.

For certain revenue and procurement items, initial billing values 
are available six weeks after delivery at the earliest, thereby 
rendering accruals necessary based on historical and statistical 
data, as well as on estimates.

Activities according to StromVG
Volume- and tariff-related timing differences (surpluses and 
deficits)  According to Art. 14 of the Electricity Supply Act (StromVG), 
grid utilisation costs must be allocated to users on a user-pays basis. 
The tariffs for a financial year are determined based on planned 
costs. Due to price and volume deviations, actual expenses and 
income vary from the tariff calculation on both the revenue and 
procurement side. This results in surpluses or deficits, i.e. the tariff 
revenues from a financial year are higher or lower than the actual 
expenses incurred during the same period. These volume- and 
tariff-related timing differences are transferred to the balance sheet 
and taken into account in cost and revenue calculations for future 
tariff periods. The expected reduction in volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences within 12 months of the balance sheet date 
is recognised as short-term surpluses or deficits arising from 
volume- and tariff-related timing differences in the balance sheet.

EBIT regulated under StromVG  Earnings before interest and  
taxes (EBIT) from activities related to the Federal Electricity Supply 
Act (StromVG) are defined in Article 13 of the Electricity Supply 
Ordinance (StromVV) and are equivalent to the interest applied to 
the assets required to operate the transmission system with the 
weighted average cost of capital rate (WACC) for the current year 
under review (= WACCt+0) and the interest applied to the volume- 
and tariff-related timing difference with the weighted average cost 
of capital rate of WACCt+2 plus income taxes.

Invested operating assets consist of net current assets 
calculated on a monthly basis as well as the property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets as at the end of the financial year. 
The weighted average cost of capital rate (WACC) is based on the 
current international practice of the WACC capital cost concept 
with reference to the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). Besides 
considering the findings of financial market theory, the regulatory 
framework conditions in Switzerland and the current situation in 
the money and capital market are also taken into account. The 
official weighted average cost of capital rates for 2019 (WACCt+0) 
and 2021 (WACCt+2) based on this method of calculation are 
unchanged from the 3.83% used in the previous year.

The chargeability of Swissgrid’s operating and capital costs for 
tariff-setting purposes is subject to approval by ElCom, which takes 
place ex post. In case of an ex post cost adjustment, an appeal can 
be lodged with the Federal Administrative Court with the possibility 
of appeal to the Federal Supreme Court. A cost adjustment 
impacting Swissgrid’s operating result is applied whenever no 
appeal is lodged, or whenever an appeal’s prospects for success 
are judged to be less than 50% on the basis of a reappraisal, or 
whenever a legally binding ruling is issued.
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at the cost of 
acquisition or production less accumulated amortisation and any 
impairment losses. Significant spare parts which are likely to be 
used for a longer period and whose use only takes place in 
connection with a non-current asset item are recognised in 
non-current assets and depreciated over the remaining useful life 
of the relevant asset.

Depreciation/amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method on the basis of the estimated useful technical and 
economic service life. The service life is determined as follows:

–– Lines: 15 to 60 years
–– Substations: 10 to 35 years
–– Buildings and expansions: 5 to 50 years
–– Other property, plant and equipment: 3 to 8 years 
–– Construction in progress and properties: only applicable in the 

case of an impairment loss

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised at the cost of acquisition or 
production less accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses. Depreciation/amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method on the basis of the estimated useful technical and 
economic service life. 

The service life is determined as follows:
–– Rights of use: contract term
–– Software and technical regulations: 3 to 5 years
–– Intangible assets under development: only applicable in the 

case of an impairment loss

Impairment losses 
The value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is 
reviewed annually. If there is an indication of an impairment loss, 
the book value is reduced to the realisable value and an impairment 
loss is charged to the results of the period.

Construction in progress/intangible assets under development
Construction in progress and intangible assets under development 
are non-current assets that are not yet completed or not yet 
operational. All items of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, including self-constructed assets, are classified 
as non-current assets. As of each balance sheet date, a review is 
performed to determine whether any construction in progress or 
intangible assets under development have to be impaired. These 
are recognised as impairment losses in the year of completion. 
Ordinary depreciation or amortisation of these assets begins once 
they are completed or ready for operation.

Financial assets
Financial assets are measured at acquisition costs less any 
impairment losses. These include shareholdings with a capital 
share of over 20%, but which do not have a significant impact 
on the financial statements, as well as shareholdings with a 
capital share of less than 20%. Employer contribution reserves 
without conditional renounced use are also recognised in 
financial assets.

Inventory
Inventory includes waste material for maintaining the grid systems. 
Inventory is measured at the lower of acquisition cost or market 
price. 

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are reported at their nominal value less any 
impairment losses required for business reasons.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash at banks 
and deposits at banks maturing in 90 days or less. They are 
recognised at their nominal value.

Bonds
Bonds issued on the capital market are recognised at their nominal 
value. Deviations from the nominal value in the case of below- or 
above-par issues are recognised as accruals and deferrals and are 
reversed on a straight-line basis over the term of the bond.

Liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised at their nominal value.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised if there is an obligation based on an 
event that took place prior to the balance sheet date, the amount 
and/or due date of which is uncertain but capable of being 
estimated.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are measured as at the balance sheet date. A 
provision is reported if a cash outflow without a usable counterval-
ue is probable and assessable. Otherwise, contingent liabilities are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interest on borrowed capital
Interest on borrowed capital is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which it arises. 

Employee pension plan
Swissgrid is a member of an industry-wide retirement benefit plan 
(PKE, Pensionskasse Energie). This is a legally independent 
pension fund. All permanent employees of the company are 
included in this pension fund from 1 January of the year in which 
they turn 18. They are insured for disability and death. From 
1 January of the year in which they turn 25, employees are also 
covered by retirement insurance.

Economic benefits arising from a pension fund surplus (e.g. 
in the form of a positive impact on future cash flows) are not 
capitalised, since the prerequisites for this are not met and the 
company does not intend to use such benefits to reduce employer 
contributions. Any benefits arising from freely available employer 
contribution reserves are recognised as an asset. 

An economic obligation (e.g. in the form of negative effects on 
future cash flows due to a pension fund deficit) is recognised if the 
prerequisites for the creation of a provision are met. Accrued 
contributions for the period, the difference between the annually 
calculated economic benefit from pension fund surpluses and 
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obligations, as well as the change in the employer contribution 
reserves are recognised in the income statement as personnel 
expenses.

Transactions with related parties
Related parties are organisations and persons that can have a 
significant influence, either directly or indirectly, on Swissgrid’s 
financial or operational decisions. Shareholders holding at least 
20% of the voting rights in Swissgrid, either alone or together with 
others, are considered to be related parties. As regards share
holders, other criteria in addition to the proportion of voting rights 
held are also taken into account (including representation in 
committees and the possibility of exerting influence due to the 
shareholder structure). Subsidiaries of related shareholders as well 
as partner plant companies whose shares are 100% owned by 
related shareholders, or which are controlled by a related share-
holder, are also considered to be related parties, as are Members of 
the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. Provided they exist 
and are significant, relations with related parties are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements. All transactions are conduct-
ed at arm’s length.

Segment information
Segmentation is based on tariff groups as defined in the Electricity 
Supply Act and is aligned with Swissgrid’s internal reporting 
structure.

Income taxes
Current income taxes are calculated based on the taxable results 
on an accruals basis.

The annual accrual of deferred taxes is based on a balance 
sheet perspective (balance sheet method) and considers all future 
income tax effects (comprehensive method). 

Derivative financial instruments
Swissgrid uses derivative financial instruments to hedge against 
currency, interest rate and market price risks. If the conditions are 
met, Swissgrid will apply hedge accounting to hedge expected 
future cash flows. 

The instruments used for this purpose will be disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements until the underlying transaction is 
realised.

2.	 Estimation uncertainty

Financial-statement reporting requires estimates and assumptions 
to be made that may have a significant impact on Swissgrid’s 
financial statements. With respect to assets and liabilities recog-
nised in the balance sheet, accruals and deferrals (prepaid 
expenses and accrued income/accrued expenses and deferred 
income) and volume- and tariff-related timing differences in 
particular are based on various assumptions and estimates that 
may necessitate significant adjustments. This is due to specific 
volumes not being available for certain revenue and procurement 
items when the financial statements are prepared, as well as 
regulatory uncertainties. The volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences are also influenced by estimates in the allocation of 
operating expenses to the segments.

For more information on this, the reader is referred to the notes 
in the sections on “Revenue recognition” and “Activities according 
to StromVG” in Note 1, as well as the comments in the following 
section.

3.	 Legal proceedings

ElCom proceedings on the system audit
ElCom concluded the administrative proceedings on the system 
audit launched in 2016 and issued its ruling on 12 December 
2019. The object of these proceedings was to calculate the capital 
costs from 2013 to 2015, the volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences in the grid utilisation segments from 2013 to 2015, and 
the ancillary services from 2011 to 2015.

The focus of ElCom’s very first system audit was to investigate 
the compatibility of the processes and procedures for calculating 
capital costs and volume- and tariff-related timing differences with 
electricity supply legislation. These proceedings did not examine 
the amount of the costs. However, any corrections ordered by 
ElCom can have an impact on costs.

In December 2018, ElCom submitted an audit report on the 
system audit for Swissgrid to provide an opinion, which Swissgrid 
submitted in June 2019. A statement as to whether, and the extent 
to which, this system audit will result in a reduction of Swissgrid’s 
chargeable costs was only possible upon receipt of the ruling on 
12 December 2019. The Swissgrid Board of Directors decided not 
to appeal against the ruling.

In its ruling, ElCom ordered Swissgrid to adapt the method for 
calculating and applying interest to the volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences with retroactive effect from 2011 and 2013 
respectively. The cumulative financial effects of the necessary 
adjustments for the years from 2011 and from 2013 to 2019 as a 
result of the ruling place a total burden of CHF 34.1 million on 
Swissgrid’s 2019 net income.

Of this amount, CHF 1.1 million is attributable to 2019 (cf. Note 
1, Changes in accounting estimates) and CHF 33 million relates to 
the years from 2011 and from 2013 to 2018 (cf. Note 12, Extraordi-
nary expenses).

Additionally, in its ruling, ElCom decided that Swissgrid had to 
derecognise transaction costs capitalised in the previous years 
(CHF 23.4 million) and components of self-constructed assets not 
chargeable as capital costs (CHF 2 million) of CHF 25.4 million 
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from non-current assets (cf. Note 14, Non-current assets). This 
decision delivered new and important findings and is the reason 
for Swissgrid’s derecognition of the aforementioned transaction 
costs and components of self-constructed assets not chargeable 
as capital costs in the amount of CHF 25.4 million from non-cur-
rent assets by way of a value adjustment (cf. Note 14, Non-current 
assets).

Matters derived from the ElCom proceedings on the system 
audit
Matters derived from, but not directly associated with, ElCom’s 
ruling in the proceedings on the system audit have placed an 
additional burden on net income in the amount of CHF 2.9 million 
(cf. Note 12, Extraordinary expenses). Firstly, the imputed interest 
recorded in the past on costs to be included in the formation of 
provisions, was adjusted (CHF 2.6 million). ElCom’s requirements 
state that costs may only be recognised once they have effectively 
accrued. For provisions, this is the time at which the provision 
is effectively used, not the time it is formed. Secondly, the other 
income assigned to the regulatory segments and the other 
activities in the previous years was also adjusted, which has an 
additional negative effect of CHF 0.3 million.

Federal Administrative Court ruling for a third party regarding 
the chargeability of dismantling costs
In a ruling issued to a third party in 2019, the Federal Administra-
tive Court decided that dismantling costs for old plants are not part 
of the regulatory asset values for replacement plants. This decision 
provided new and important findings with regard to the regulatory 
treatment of dismantling costs. From a regulatory perspective, 
dismantling costs cannot be recognised as capital costs, which 
means that no imputed interest can be assigned. Swissgrid 
consequently adjusted the imputed interest based on the capital-
ised dismantling costs of CHF 0.8 million that were declared in the 
past (in the years between 2013 and 2018), and recognised these 
in the income statement (cf. Note 12, Extraordinary expenses). In 
addition, Swissgrid derecognised the capitalised dismantling costs 
of CHF 4.5 million from property, plant and equipment by way of a 
value adjustment (cf. Note 14, Non-current assets).

ElCom proceedings to calculate volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences for 2011 and 2012
In its letter dated 23 August 2019, ElCom reopened proceedings to 
calculate the volume- and tariff-related timing differences for 2011 
and 2012. ElCom has not yet initiated any proceedings to examine 
the volume- and tariff-related timing differences for the years from 
2013 to 2019. These proceedings will examine the chargeability 
of Swissgrid’s capital and operating costs. The outcome of these 
proceedings could result in a reduction of Swissgrid’s chargeable 
costs.

As at 31 December 2019, Swissgrid estimates the cumulative 
risk for non-chargeable costs at CHF 75 million. As at 31 December 
2018, the cumulative risk was estimated at CHF 110 million. The 
updated estimate at the end of 2019 took account of financial 
effects from the adjustments made after the ElCom ruling on the 
system audit and other regulatory effects. Swissgrid’s equity 
situation is therefore not jeopardised, even in the event that the 
maximum risk of CHF 75 million occurs.

Swissgrid’s Board of Directors and Executive Board believe  
that all costs for the years 2011 to 2019 were incurred within the 
framework of Swissgrid’s legal mandate and should therefore 
qualify as chargeable. Based on this assessment, Swissgrid has 
treated all operating and capital costs as chargeable and conse-
quently recognised them in full in the volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences. If, contrary to Swissgrid’s assessment, the costs 
claimed are ruled to be non-chargeable, this would be reflected in 
future financial statements. 

Third-party proceedings
The financial impact of third-party proceedings in which Swissgrid 
is involved are included in Swissgrid’s financial statements if the 
Swiss GAAP FER criteria for recognition have been met. However, 
they have no direct impact on Swissgrid’s results as they are 
included in the volume- and tariff-related timing differences.
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4.	 Segment reporting 

For segment reporting, the costs of capitalised self-constructed 
assets are deducted from operating expenses and are therefore not 
included in total operating income.

Eliminations: active power losses are a separate internal 
balance group. As a result, internal transactions occur between the 
general ancillary services/balance energy and active power losses 
segments.

Segment report 2019

Volume- and tariff-related timing differences: negative figures represent 
surpluses, and positive figures deficits.

Volume- and tariff-related timing differences: positive figures represent 
surpluses, and negative figures deficits.

Movement in volume- and tariff-related timing differences per segment

In millions of CHF Total Grid utilisation

General ancil-
lary services/

balance energy

Active power 
losses (individ-

ual ancillary 
services)

Reactive energy 
(individual ancil-

lary services) Eliminations

Total activities 
according to 

StromVG
Further  

activities

Net turnover 672.7 434.5 176.1 63.8 2.0 –3.7 672.7 – 

Other operating income 13.0 1.6 0.1 – – – 1.7 11.3 

Procurement costs –224.9 –18.8 –157.7 –50.5 –1.6 3.7 –224.9 – 

Operating expenses –188.3 –159.5 –17.3 –2.6 –0.1 – –179.5 –8.8 

Depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment losses –188.5 –180.6 –5.4 –0.4 – – –186.4 –2.1 

Imputed interest and income 
taxes (EBIT) –102.4 –98.8 0.2 –2.6 –0.8 – –102.0 –0.4 

Change in volume- and tariff-
related timing differences –18.4 –21.6 –4.0 7.7 –0.5 – –18.4 – 

In millions of CHF Total Grid utilisation

General ancil-
lary services/

balance energy

Active power 
losses (individ-

ual ancillary 
services)

Reactive energy 
(individual ancil-

lary services) Eliminations

Total activities 
according to 

StromVG
Further  

activities

Net turnover 672.7 434.5 176.1 63.8 2.0 –3.7 672.7 – 

Other operating income 13.0 1.6 0.1 – – – 1.7 11.3 

Change in volume- and tariff-
related timing differences 18.4 21.6 4.0 –7.7 0.5 – 18.4 – 

Total operating income 704.1 457.7 180.2 56.1 2.5 –3.7 692.8 11.3 

Procurement costs –224.9 –18.8 –157.7 –50.5 –1.6 3.7 –224.9 – 

Gross profit 479.2 438.9 22.5 5.6 0.9 – 467.9 11.3 

Operating expenses –188.3 –159.5 –17.3 –2.6 –0.1 – –179.5 –8.8 

Depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment losses –188.5 –180.6 –5.4 –0.4 – – –186.4 –2.1 

Earnings before interest and 
income tax (EBIT) 102.4 98.8 –0.2 2.6 0.8 – 102.0 0.4 
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Segment report 2018

Volume- and tariff-related timing differences: negative figures represent 
surpluses, and positive figures deficits.

Volume- and tariff-related timing differences: positive figures represent 
surpluses, and negative figures deficits.

Movement in volume- and tariff-related timing differences per segment 

In millions of CHF Total Grid utilisation

General ancil-
lary services/

balance energy

Active power 
losses (individ-

ual ancillary 
services)

Reactive energy 
(individual ancil-

lary services) Eliminations

Total activities 
according to 

StromVG
Further  

activities

Net turnover 907.9 619.4 228.1 34.3 32.6 –6.5 907.9 – 

Other operating income 12.8 2.3 0.3 0.1 0.1 – 2.8 10.0 

Change in volume- and tariff-
related timing differences –221.3 –219.3 –62.8 39.3 21.5 – –221.3 – 

Total operating income 699.4 402.4 165.6 73.7 54.2 –6.5 689.4 10.0 

Procurement costs –263.4 –3.2 –147.8 –68.6 –50.3 6.5 –263.4 – 

Gross profit 436.0 399.2 17.8 5.1 3.9 – 426.0 10.0 

Operating expenses –170.3 –143.1 –14.6 –2.2 –2.5 – –162.4 –7.9 

Depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment losses –146.3 –139.7 –4.3 –0.3 –0.3 – –144.6 –1.7 

Earnings before interest and 
income tax (EBIT) 119.4 116.4 –1.1 2.6 1.1 – 119.0 0.4 

In millions of CHF Total Grid utilisation

General ancil-
lary services/

balance energy

Active power 
losses (individ-

ual ancillary 
services)

Reactive energy 
(individual ancil-

lary services) Eliminations

Total activities 
according to 

StromVG
Further  

activities

Net turnover 907.9 619.4 228.1 34.3 32.6 –6.5 907.9 – 

Other operating income 12.8 2.3 0.3 0.1 0.1 – 2.8 10.0 

Procurement costs –263.4 –3.2 –147.8 –68.6 –50.3 6.5 –263.4 – 

Operating expenses –170.3 –143.1 –14.6 –2.2 –2.5 – –162.4 –7.9 

Depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment losses –146.3 –139.7 –4.3 –0.3 –0.3 – –144.6 –1.7 

Imputed interest and income 
taxes (EBIT) –119.4 –116.4 1.1 –2.6 –1.1 – –119.0 –0.4 

Change in volume- and tariff-
related timing differences 221.3 219.3 62.8 –39.3 –21.5 – 221.3 – 
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Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) per segment within the 
StromVG-regulated activities correspond to the capital costs on 
the invested operating assets and the volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences plus taxes (cf. Note 1). The individual expense 
and income positions assigned to the four segments within the 
StromVG-regulated activities are listed in Note 5.

Grid utilisation  The grid utilisation segment is predominantly 
financed by various charges for use of the grid. This segment is also 
assigned the income from auctioning bottleneck capacities at the 
national borders to reduce the chargeable grid costs, provided that 
this purpose is approved by ElCom. This segment also includes part 
of the compensation for international transit flows (ITC); the other 
part flows to the active power losses segment.

Net turnover in this segment amounts to CHF 434.5 million 
in the 2019 financial year, CHF 184.9 million below the previous 
year. Lower tariff revenues (CHF 89.8 million) as well as lower 
income from auctions for the reduction of chargeable grid costs 
(CHF 88.6 million) are responsible for this decline on the previous 
year.

Procurement costs in the 2019 financial year of CHF 18.8 mil-
lion are higher than the previous year (CHF 3.2 million), which is 
due to an increase in additional remuneration for operating and 
capital costs to former transmission system owners.

Swissgrid had to recognise impairment losses of CHF 31.6 mil-
lion in 2019. This is primarily due to ElCom’s ruling in the proceed-
ings on the system audit (CHF 25.4 million) and a ruling by the 
Federal Administrative Court in relation to a third party 
(CHF 4.5 million), which is also relevant to Swissgrid (cf. Note 3, 
Legal proceedings).

Lower net turnover and higher costs resulted in a deficit of 
CHF 21.6 million in the 2019 financial year.

General ancillary services/balance energy  In 2019, lower tariff 
revenue and income from the balance group/balance energy 
led to a decline in net income from CHF 228.1 million to 
CHF 176.1 million.

The largest expense item for this segment is control power 
provision, i.e. the reservation of power plant capacity in the 
interests of balancing energy consumption and energy feed-in. 
The procurement costs of CHF 157.7 million in this segment are 
CHF 9.9 million higher than in 2018 due to the prorated costs of 
control power provision that are borne by this segment. ElCom’s 
ruling in the proceedings on the system audit mean that control 
power provision costs will be almost entirely borne by this 
segment as of the 2019 financial year. Accordingly, expenditure 
on control power increased by CHF 41.8 million in this segment 
year-on-year. By contrast, the costs for grid enhancements and 
ancillary services (AS) energy fell by CHF 31.9 million compared 
to the previous year.

In 2019, costs slightly exceeded net turnover, resulting in a 
deficit of CHF 4.0 million. 

Active power losses (individual ancillary services)  This segment 
reports expenses and income for active power losses in the 
transmission grid. In addition to tariff revenues, part of the income 
from ITC flows into this segment. The procurement of energy to 
offset active power losses takes place on the spot market and via 
tenders.

Net turnover of CHF 63.8 million in this segment is higher than 
in the previous year (CHF 34.3 million). This increase is due to 
higher tariff revenues (CHF 19.4 million) and higher income from 
ITC assigned to this segment (CHF 10.1 million).

In the financial year, this segment recorded procurement costs 
of CHF 50.5 million (previous year: CHF 68.6 million).

In 2019, revenue exceeded costs, resulting in a surplus of 
CHF 7.7 million.

Reactive energy (individual ancillary services)  The supply of 
reactive energy to maintain the required operating voltage is 
ensured by means of contractual agreements with several power 
plants.

Both net turnover and procurement costs decreased signifi-
cantly due to ElCom’s ruling in the proceedings on the system 
audit. ElCom ruled that the reactive energy segment cannot be 
assigned a share of general AS tariff revenue as of the 2019 
financial year. In addition, the control power provision costs to be 
borne by this segment are considerably lower than in previous 
years.

In the 2019 financial year, lower revenue and costs led to a 
deficit of CHF 0.5 million.
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5.	 Net turnover and procurement costs 
according to StromVG

Letters used for segment allocation:
A	 =	 Grid utilisation
B	 =	 General ancillary services/balance energy
C	 =	 Active power losses (individual ancillary services)
D	 =	 Reactive energy (individual ancillary services)

Segment reporting is provided in Note 4.

Income from ITC consists of the following:
–– Compensation for grid utilisation (A) CHF 8.4 million (previous year: 
CHF 14.9 million)

–– Compensation for active power losses (C) CHF 14.3 million (previous 
year: CHF 4.2 million)

 
The ITC compensation for grid utilisation and active power losses 
corresponds to net income. Supervision charges paid to ElCom and 
to the Swiss Federal Office of Energy (SFOE) in the amount of 
CHF 4.4 million (previous year: CHF 4.8 million) are deducted from the 
gross income of CHF 10.0 million for grid utilisation (previous year: 
CHF 18.6 million) and CHF 17.1 million for active power losses (previous 
year: CHF 5.3 million).

The tariff income for general AS and income from unintentional 
exchange are split as follows:

–– General AS (B): CHF 136.5 million (previous year: CHF 137.4 million)
–– Reactive energy (D): CHF 0.0 million (previous year: CHF 45.9 million) 

As a result of ElCom’s ruling in the proceedings on the system audit, the 
reactive energy segment may not be assigned any general AS revenue 
as of the 2019 financial year.

Eliminations: active power losses are a separate internal balance group. 
As a result, internal transactions occur between the general ancillary 
services/balance energy and active power losses segments.

In millions of CHF Segment 2019 2018

Tariff income for grid utilisation A 344.6 434.4 

Net income from ITC A/C 22.7 19.1 

Income from auctions for the reduction of chargeable grid costs A 81.5 170.1 

Tariff income for general ancillary services (AS) and  
income from unintentional deviation B/D 136.5 183.3 

Income from balance group/balance energy B 39.6 90.7 

Tariff income for active power losses C 49.5 30.1 

Tariff income for reactive energy D 2.0 –13.3 

Eliminations –3.7 –6.5 

Net turnover 672.7 907.9 

Operating expenses for transmission system A 6.6 1.8 

Capital expenses for transmission system A 12.2 1.4 

Expenses for AS control power provision and unintentional deviation B 120.8 79.0 

Expenses for automatic start-up/island operation capability B 1.1 1.1 

Expenses for grid enhancement B 13.5 20.5 

Expenses for AS energy B 22.3 47.2 

Expenses for compensation of active power losses C 50.5 68.6 

Expenses for reactive energy/voltage maintenance D 1.6 50.3 

Eliminations –3.7 –6.5 

Procurement costs 224.9 263.4 
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6.	 Other operating income

7.	 Materials and third-party supplies

The entry into force of the provisions under the federal law 
“Electricity Grid Strategy” on 1 June 2019 was accompanied by the 
entry into force of Art. 15, paragraph 2, letter c of the Federal 
Electricity Supply Act (StromVG), according to which one-off 
remuneration for easements is reported in operating expenses and 
can no longer be capitalised. In addition, higher costs for mixed-
use assets were reported in 2019 than in 2018, which led to an 
increase in the “Other services in the grid area” item compared to 
the previous year.

By contrast, lower costs were reported for grid maintenance 
due to lower maintenance costs and for substation control services 
due to the connection of additional substations to Swissgrid’s grid 
control system in comparison to the previous year.

8.	 Personnel expenses

Other personnel expenses include, in particular, the costs of 
training and further education, recruitment, lump-sum expenses as 
well as allowances for external catering for employees.

Executive Board remuneration

1  Non-cash benefits include the private use of business vehicles.
2  �Pension benefits contain employer contributions to social security and 

the employee pension plan.

Further information on the members of the Executive Board can be 
found in the Corporate Governance Report.

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Congestion management clearing 11.2 10.0 

Other 1.8 2.8 

13.0 12.8 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Grid maintenance 21.3 24.6 

Grid system control 0.5 4.2 

Other services in the grid area 23.8 8.7 

Expenses for projects, advisory and 
non-cash benefits 26.6 25.5 

Hardware/software maintenance 10.3 9.9 

82.5 72.9 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Fixed remuneration (incl. lump-sum 
expenses) 1.46 1.25 

Variable remuneration 0.81 0.64 

Non-cash benefits ¹ 0.02 0.01 

Pension benefits ² 0.39 0.25 

Total remuneration to  
the Executive Board 2.68 2.15 

Of which to the highest-earning 
member of the Executive Board

Fixed remuneration (incl. lump-sum 
expenses) 0.44 0.43 

Variable remuneration 0.22 0.22 

Pension benefits ² 0.11 0.11 

Total remuneration to the  
highest-earning member of  
the Executive Board 0.77 0.76 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Salaries, bonuses, allowances 72.7 67.2 

Employee insurance 13.3 12.1 

Other personnel expenses 3.7 3.3 

89.7 82.6 

Headcount at 31.12.

Permanent employment:

Number of employees 542 482

expressed as full-time equivalents: 513.7 464.0

Fixed-term employment:

Number of employees 9 8

expressed as full-time equivalents: 7.1 7.0
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9.	 Other operating expenses

Board of Directors’ fees and expenses represent fixed gross 
remuneration. The remuneration paid to the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors amounted to CHF 250,000, including lump-sum 
expenses (previous year: CHF 250,000). The remaining members 
of the Board of Directors received remuneration of between 
CHF 55,000 and CHF 65,000 pro rata temporis for 2019, including 
lump-sum expenses (previous year: CHF 55,000 to CHF 65,000).

Further information on the members of the Board of Directors 
can be found in the Corporate Governance Report.

10.	 Financial income 

Other financial income includes a dividend of CHF 0.9 million 
(previous year: CHF 0.6 million) from Holding des Gestionnaires de 
Réseau de Transport d’Électricité SAS (HGRT).

11.	 Financial expenses 

The next partial repayment of convertible loans of CHF 145.2 million 
took place at the start of the 2019 financial year. The interest 
expense for convertible loans and loans declined accordingly.

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Rental and occupancy costs 9.1 9.4 

Ground rents 4.5 4.1 

Rental costs for communication 
equipment/telecommunication 
expense 3.3 4.0 

Board of Directors’ fees and expenses, 
incl. social costs 0.8 0.8 

Actual expenses for travel and 
subsistence for employees and third 
parties 2.2 2.0 

Fees, dues and licences 4.5 5.0 

Insurance 1.6 1.5 

Other administrative costs 2.7 2.6 

28.7 29.4 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Bond interest 10.3 10.3 

Loans and convertible loans interest 22.3 27.6 

Commitment fees 0.5 0.5 

Other financial expenses 0.5 0.9 

33.6 39.3 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Other financial income 1.2 0.8 

1.2 0.8 
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12.	Extraordinary expenses

The cumulative financial effects on net income resulting from 
ElCom’s ruling of 12 December 2019 on the system audit amount 
to CHF 33 million, due to the adjustments to be made for the years 
from 2011 and from 2013 to 2018.

Matters derived from, but not directly associated with, ElCom’s 
ruling in the proceedings on the system audit have placed an 
additional burden on net income in the amount of CHF 2.9 million. 
Firstly, the imputed interest recorded in the past on costs to be 
included in the formation of provisions was adjusted (CHF 2.6 mil-
lion). Secondly, the other income assigned to the segments and the 
other activities was also adjusted, which resulted in an additional 
negative effect of CHF 0.3 million.

Moreover, in a ruling issued to a third party in 2019, the Federal 
Administrative Court decided that dismantling costs for old plants 
are not part of the regulatory asset values of replacement plants. As 
a result of this decision, Swissgrid adjusted the imputed interest 
based on the capitalised dismantling costs of CHF 0.8 million that 
were declared in the years between 2013 and 2018, and recog-
nised these in the income statement.

For further information see Note 3, Legal proceedings.

13.	Income taxes 

The lower income taxes compared to the previous year are a 
consequence of the lower net income in 2019 in relation to 2018. 
An average rate of 18.7% (previous year: 19.1%) was used to 
calculate the current income taxes and, in 2019, deferred taxes 
were calculated based on an expected rate of 18% (previous year: 
19.1%).

The effective average tax rate based on earnings before income 
tax amounts to 13.5% (previous year: 18.9%). This difference from 
the aforementioned rates is particularly due to the higher reversal 
of deferred taxes as a consequence of the revaluation of deferred 
taxes based on the lower tax rate.

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Current income taxes 7.1 17.0 

Change in deferred taxes –2.6 –1.7 

4.5 15.3 
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Property, plant and equipment of CHF 9.5 million (previous year: 
CHF 20.0 million) were purchased from related parties in 2019.

As a result of ElCom’s ruling in the proceedings on the system audit 
and a ruling by the Federal Administrative Court in relation to a third 
party, Swissgrid was forced to adjust the value of, in particular, 
capitalised transaction costs (CHF 23.4 million), components of self- 
constructed assets not chargeable as capital costs (CHF 0.8 million) and 
capitalised dismantling costs (CHF 4.5 million) as at 31 December 2019.

14.	Non-current assets 

Summary of property, plant and equipment – 2019

Summary of property, plant and equipment – 2018

In 2019, Swissgrid acquired additional tangible assets as part of the 
transmission grid amounting to CHF 26.2 million (previous year: 
2.4 million) and remunerated this amount with 30% in shares and 70% 
in loans.

Gross investments in property, plant and equipment amounted to 
CHF 136.8 million (previous year: CHF 238.2 million). Of this, CHF 
40.1 million (previous year: CHF 0.0 million) was financed by proceeds 
from the auctioning of bottleneck capacities for cross-border supplies.

In millions of CHF

Advances and 
construction  

in progress Substations Lines
Properties and 

buildings

Other property,  
plant and  

equipment Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2019 355.6 1,997.0 2,536.0 234.2 58.6 5,181.4 

Additions 91.3 13.5 11.4 3.7 3.0 122.9 

Disposals – –50.2 –19.6 –7.9 –7.7 –85.4 

Reclassification –75.1 35.7 22.7 3.1 11.9 –1.7 

Acquisition cost at 31.12.2019 371.8 1,995.8 2,550.5 233.1 65.8 5,217.0 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation at 1.1.2019 4.9 1,165.4 1,518.4 72.2 48.4 2,809.3 

Depreciation and amortisation – 67.0 42.2 6.8 8.9 124.9 

Impairment losses 0.5 12.1 16.6 0.9 – 30.1 

Disposals – –50.4 –19.6 –7.9 –7.7 –85.6 

Reclassification – – – – – – 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation at 31.12.2019 5.4 1,194.3 1,557.6 72.0 49.6 2,878.9 

Net book value at 1.1.2019 350.7 831.6 1,017.6 162.0 10.2 2,372.1 

Net book value at 31.12.2019 366.4 801.5 992.9 161.1 16.2 2,338.1 

In millions of CHF

Advances and 
construction  

in progress Substations Lines
Properties and 

buildings

Other property,  
plant and  

equipment Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2018 303.9 1,932.3 2,490.5 175.5 60.6 4,962.8 

Additions 151.9 18.1 17.2 48.2 5.2 240.6 

Disposals – –1.3 –0.5 –10.0 –10.0 –21.8 

Reclassification –100.2 48.3 29.1 20.6 3.0 0.8 

Acquisition cost at 31.12.2018 355.6 1,997.0 2,536.0 234.2 58.6 5,181.4 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation at 1.1.2018 4.9 1,103.6 1,476.7 76.7 53.0 2,714.9 

Depreciation and amortisation – 63.1 42.2 5.5 5.4 116.2 

Impairment losses – – – – – – 

Disposals – –1.7 –0.8 –10.1 –10.2 –22.8 

Reclassification – – – – – – 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation at 31.12.2018 4.9 1,165.4 1,518.4 72.2 48.4 2,809.3 

Net book value at 1.1.2018 299.0 828.7 1,013.8 98.8 7.6 2,247.9 

Net book value at 31.12.2018 350.7 831.6 1,017.6 162.0 10.2 2,372.1 
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Summary of intangible assets – 2019

Summary of intangible assets – 2018

Gross investments in intangible assets amounted to CHF 16.2 million 
(previous year: CHF 26.1 million). Of this, no investments were financed 
by proceeds from the auctioning of bottleneck capacities for cross-
border supplies, as was the case in the previous year.

In 2019, services for intangible assets of CHF 0.1 million (previous 
year: CHF 0.6 million) were purchased from related parties.

As a result of ElCom’s ruling in the proceedings on the system audit, 
Swissgrid was forced to adjust the value of, in particular, components of 
self-constructed assets not chargeable as capital costs (CHF 1.2 mil- 
lion) as at 31 December 2019.

Project costs of CHF 1.7 million were reclassified from construction 
in progress to intangible assets under development in the year under 
review (previous year: CHF 0.8 million from intangible assets under 
development to construction in progress).

Intangible assets under development Usage rights Software Total intangible assets 

In millions of CHF Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2019 17.6 11.7 29.3 151.6 – 151.6 124.1 43.5 167.6 293.3 55.2 348.5 

Additions 4.7 1.9 6.6 3.3 – 3.3 3.9 2.4 6.3 11.9 4.3 16.2 

Disposals – – – –0.2 – –0.2 –3.0 –0.2 –3.2 –3.2 –0.2 –3.4 

Reclassification –12.0 –10.7 –22.7 3.7 – 3.7 9.5 11.2 20.7 1.2 0.5 1.7 

Acquisition cost at 31.12.2019 10.3 2.9 13.2 158.4 – 158.4 134.5 56.9 191.4 303.2 59.8 363.0 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
1.1.2019 – – – 64.6 – 64.6 89.9 27.7 117.6 154.5 27.7 182.2 

Depreciation and amortisation – – – 5.3 – 5.3 17.3 9.2 26.5 22.6 9.2 31.8 

Impairment losses 0.3 – 0.3 – – – – 1.2 1.2 0.3 1.2 1.5 

Disposals – – – –0.2 – –0.2 –3.0 –0.2 –3.2 –3.2 –0.2 –3.4 

Reclassification – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
31.12.2019 0.3 – 0.3 69.7 – 69.7 104.2 37.9 142.1 174.2 37.9 212.1 

Net book value at 1.1.2019 17.6 11.7 29.3 87.0 – 87.0 34.2 15.8 50.0 138.8 27.5 166.3 

Net book value at 31.12.2019 10.0 2.9 12.9 88.7 – 88.7 30.3 19.0 49.3 129.0 21.9 150.9 

Intangible assets under development Usage rights Software Total intangible assets 

In millions of CHF Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2018 19.9 9.2 29.1 144.7 – 144.7 127.9 41.0 168.9 292.5 50.2 342.7 

Additions 9.6 5.4 15.0 4.3 – 4.3 5.3 1.6 6.9 19.2 7.0 26.2 

Disposals – – – – – – –18.3 –1.3 –19.6 –18.3 –1.3 –19.6 

Reclassification –11.9 –2.9 –14.8 2.6 – 2.6 9.2 2.2 11.4 –0.1 –0.7 –0.8 

Acquisition cost at 31.12.2018 17.6 11.7 29.3 151.6 – 151.6 124.1 43.5 167.6 293.3 55.2 348.5 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
1.1.2018 – – – 59.3 – 59.3 87.8 20.7 108.5 147.1 20.7 167.8 

Depreciation and amortisation – – – 5.3 – 5.3 16.8 8.0 24.8 22.1 8.0 30.1 

Impairment losses – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Disposals – – – – – – –14.7 –1.0 –15.7 –14.7 –1.0 –15.7 

Reclassification – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
31.12.2018 – – – 64.6 – 64.6 89.9 27.7 117.6 154.5 27.7 182.2 

Net book value at 1.1.2018 19.9 9.2 29.1 85.4 – 85.4 40.1 20.3 60.4 145.4 29.5 174.9 

Net book value at 31.12.2018 17.6 11.7 29.3 87.0 – 87.0 34.2 15.8 50.0 138.8 27.5 166.3 
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Intangible assets under development Usage rights Software Total intangible assets 

In millions of CHF Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2019 17.6 11.7 29.3 151.6 – 151.6 124.1 43.5 167.6 293.3 55.2 348.5 

Additions 4.7 1.9 6.6 3.3 – 3.3 3.9 2.4 6.3 11.9 4.3 16.2 

Disposals – – – –0.2 – –0.2 –3.0 –0.2 –3.2 –3.2 –0.2 –3.4 

Reclassification –12.0 –10.7 –22.7 3.7 – 3.7 9.5 11.2 20.7 1.2 0.5 1.7 

Acquisition cost at 31.12.2019 10.3 2.9 13.2 158.4 – 158.4 134.5 56.9 191.4 303.2 59.8 363.0 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
1.1.2019 – – – 64.6 – 64.6 89.9 27.7 117.6 154.5 27.7 182.2 

Depreciation and amortisation – – – 5.3 – 5.3 17.3 9.2 26.5 22.6 9.2 31.8 

Impairment losses 0.3 – 0.3 – – – – 1.2 1.2 0.3 1.2 1.5 

Disposals – – – –0.2 – –0.2 –3.0 –0.2 –3.2 –3.2 –0.2 –3.4 

Reclassification – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
31.12.2019 0.3 – 0.3 69.7 – 69.7 104.2 37.9 142.1 174.2 37.9 212.1 

Net book value at 1.1.2019 17.6 11.7 29.3 87.0 – 87.0 34.2 15.8 50.0 138.8 27.5 166.3 

Net book value at 31.12.2019 10.0 2.9 12.9 88.7 – 88.7 30.3 19.0 49.3 129.0 21.9 150.9 

Intangible assets under development Usage rights Software Total intangible assets 

In millions of CHF Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total Purchased Self-constructed Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2018 19.9 9.2 29.1 144.7 – 144.7 127.9 41.0 168.9 292.5 50.2 342.7 

Additions 9.6 5.4 15.0 4.3 – 4.3 5.3 1.6 6.9 19.2 7.0 26.2 

Disposals – – – – – – –18.3 –1.3 –19.6 –18.3 –1.3 –19.6 

Reclassification –11.9 –2.9 –14.8 2.6 – 2.6 9.2 2.2 11.4 –0.1 –0.7 –0.8 

Acquisition cost at 31.12.2018 17.6 11.7 29.3 151.6 – 151.6 124.1 43.5 167.6 293.3 55.2 348.5 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
1.1.2018 – – – 59.3 – 59.3 87.8 20.7 108.5 147.1 20.7 167.8 

Depreciation and amortisation – – – 5.3 – 5.3 16.8 8.0 24.8 22.1 8.0 30.1 

Impairment losses – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Disposals – – – – – – –14.7 –1.0 –15.7 –14.7 –1.0 –15.7 

Reclassification – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation at 
31.12.2018 – – – 64.6 – 64.6 89.9 27.7 117.6 154.5 27.7 182.2 

Net book value at 1.1.2018 19.9 9.2 29.1 85.4 – 85.4 40.1 20.3 60.4 145.4 29.5 174.9 

Net book value at 31.12.2018 17.6 11.7 29.3 87.0 – 87.0 34.2 15.8 50.0 138.8 27.5 166.3 
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15.	Financial assets 

Swissgrid has the following shareholdings, which are recognised in 
the balance sheet as financial assets:

Letters used for locations and currencies:
A	 =	 Aarau (formerly Laufenburg, CH) | Currency CHF
B	 =	 Luxembourg (Lux) | Currency EUR
C	 =	 Munich (D) | Currency EUR
D	 =	 Paris (F) | Currency EUR
E	 =	 Frick (CH) | Currency CHF
F	 =	 Embrach (CH) | Currency CHF

In September 2019, Swissgrid acquired a holding in ecmt AG, 
headquartered in Embrach (CH). ecmt AG uses the Management 
Seismograph application to support its customers in integral risk, 
disaster and business continuity management (BCM), as well as 
with status and situational monitoring.

Swissgrid is not legally obliged to prepare consolidated financial 
statements. Either the control principle necessary to prepare a 
consolidated financial statement (FER 30) is not met, or the 
subsidiaries do not have a material influence on Swissgrid’s 
financial statements. In particular, Pronovo AG is regulated by the 
Swiss Federal Office of Energy (SFOE) and is explicitly excluded 
from any consolidation with Swissgrid based on Art. 64 (5) of the 
Energy Act (EnG).

Otherwise, the information is unchanged from the previous year.

Share 
capital 

in m. Share in %

Joint Allocation Office (JAO) B 0.100 5.0 

TSCNET Services GmbH C 0.033 7.7 

Holding des Gestionnaires de Réseau 
de Transport d’Electricité SAS (HGRT) D 52.119 5.0 

Pronovo AG E 0.100 100.0 

ecmt AG F 0.100 20.0 

AET NE1 SA A 0.100 100.0 

ALENA Aletsch Energie Netz AG A 0.100 100.0 

Alpiq Netz AG Gösgen/Aarau A 0.100 100.0 

Alpiq Réseau SA Lausanne/Aarau A 0.100 100.0 

BKW Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

CKW Grid AG A 0.100 100.0 

EGL Grid AG A 0.100 100.0 

ewb Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

ewz Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

FMV Réseau SA A 0.100 100.0 

Kraftwerke Hinterrhein Netz AG A 0.100 100.0 

LENA Lonza Energie Netz AG A 0.100 100.0 

Nordostschweizerische Kraftwerke 
Grid AG A 0.100 100.0 

Ofible Rete SA A 0.100 100.0 

Ofima Rete SA A 0.100 100.0 

Repower Transportnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

SN Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

Übertragungsnetz Basel/Aarau AG A 0.100 100.0 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Shareholdings 8.7 8.7 

Employer contribution reserves 0.1 2.0 

8.8 10.7 
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16.	 Volume- and tariff-related timing differences 

Negative figures represent surpluses, and positive figures deficits. 
Further information on volume- and tariff-related timing differences 
(function, estimation uncertainties and current legal proceedings) can 
be found in Notes 1, 2 and 3.

Explanations on the reversals item are provided in Note 12, 
Extraordinary expenses.

In millions of CHF Grid utilisation

General ancil
lary services/

balance energy

Active power 
losses (individ-

ual ancillary 
services)

Reactive energy 
(individual an-

cillary services)

Total volume- 
and tariff-re-
lated timing 
differences

Thereof 
surpluses Thereof deficits

Balance at 31.12.2017 223.2 –84.9 29.9 18.6 186.8 –84.9 271.7 

Change in 2018 –219.3 –62.8 39.3 21.5 –221.3 

Reclassification – 17.5 – –17.5 – 

Balance at 31.12.2018 3.9 –130.2 69.2 22.6 –34.5 –130.2 95.7 

Reversals –10.0 –23.6 –2.8 –0.3 –36.7 

Change in 2019 21.6 4.0 –7.7 0.5 18.4 

Balance at 31.12.2019 15.5 –149.8 58.7 22.8 –52.8 –149.8 97.0 

Current portion – –29.6 35.0 – 5.4 –29.6 35.0 
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17.	 Balance sheet items held on a fiduciary 
basis

On the basis of a statutory mandate, Swissgrid coordinates the auc-
tioning of bottleneck capacities for cross-border supplies and 
maintains accounting records and bank accounts on a fiduciary 
basis for this purpose.

Assets held on a fiduciary basis  

Liabilities held on a fiduciary basis 

The revenues and the manner in which they are used are as 
follows:

Pursuant to the ElCom letter of approval issued on 18 January 
2018, income from auctions of CHF 114.5 million (previous year: 
CHF 132.6 million) was paid to Swissgrid in 2019.

To partially hedge the EUR/CHF currency risk from expected 
future income in euros, derivative financial instruments (futures) in 
the nominal amount of EUR 70.1 million exist as at the balance 
sheet date. The positive replacement values as at 31 December 
2019 amount to CHF 1.5 million (previous year: positive replace-
ment values of CHF 1.7 million).

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trade accounts receivable 4.0 6.4 

Other receivables – 0.2 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0.4 – 

Cash and cash equivalents 10.4 11.3 

14.8 17.9 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Share of revenue Switzerland 127.7 151.1 

Congestion management clearing –12.3 –11.5 

Net proceeds 115.4 139.6 

Used for reduction of the chargeable 
grid costs –74.4 –132.6 

Used for grid investments –40.1 0.0 

Undistributed income from auctions 0.9 7.0 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trade accounts payable 13.8 9.9 

Accrued expenses and deferred 
income 1.0 8.0 

14.8 17.9 
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18.	Trade receivables 

19.	 Other receivables 

20.	Prepaid expenses and accrued income 

In particular, other prepaid expenses and accrued income contains 
the discount on bond issues and financing and issue costs, which 
are amortised over the term of the financing instrument.

21.	 Financial liabilities 

Bonds

Convertible loans and loans
Convertible loans have a term of nine years and one-fifth of the 
loans become payable annually from year five. As a result, the next 
partial repayment of convertible loans, amounting to CHF 145.2 mil-
lion, was made at the start of the 2019 financial year. Moreover, 
loans are also assigned a conversion right by Swissgrid in the event 
of occurrence of contractually defined events and an associated 
conversion obligation by the creditors. Creditors are compensated 
by a premium on the interest rate for the conversion right assigned 
to Swissgrid. Convertible loans are recognised in full in liabilities. 

The interest conditions and maturities of convertible loans and 
loans are as follows:

Convertible loans and loans are assessed at their nominal value.

Lines of credit 
The committed lines of credit total CHF 310 million and remain 
unclaimed as at 31 December 2019.

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Bonds 975.0 850.0 

Convertible loans 584.6 720.7 

Loans 0.1 0.1 

Total financial liabilities 1,559.7 1,570.8 

Current portion 519.2 145.2 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trade receivables 119.0 142.7 

Specific valuation allowances – – 

119.0 142.7 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Security deposits on blocked bank 
accounts 1.1 1.1 

Other 0.6 0.4 

1.7 1.5 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Accrued revenue for supplies made 45.6 54.1 

Other 2.6 2.9 

48.2 57.0 

Category
Interest rate p.a. 

(range) Up to 1 year 2–5 years
More than  

5 years

Convertible 
loans 3.36–3.93% 169.2 404.4 11.0 

Loans 0.00% – – 0.1 

Nominal amount in CHF Interest rate Term
Expiry at nominal 

value

350 million 1.000% 2013–2020 30.01.2020

350 million 1.625% 2013–2025 30.01.2025

150 million 0.625% 2015–2030 21.02.2030

125 million 0.050% 2019–2050 30.06.2050
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22.	Provisions 

Procedural costs
With the grid takeovers on 3 January 2013 and 5 January 2015 
and the associated spin-offs of the procedural companies from 
the grid companies, contractual regulations mean that Swissgrid 
is responsible for the costs of proceedings attributable to the 
procedural companies. 

The provision corresponds to Swissgrid’s expected future 
expenses for party, court and legal costs that may arise for the 
procedural companies as part of their administrative procedures 
in conducting proceedings.

The provision amount also includes the estimated compensa-
tion payable to parties and the court costs imposed on Swissgrid 
due to the administrative procedures in conducting proceedings.

The large number of proceedings, as well as their complex 
subject matters, mean that numerous reassessments are required 
over time that will influence the provision amount as well as the 
provisions raised, reversed and the expected current portion within 
the statement of provisions.

In millions of CHF Restructuring Dismantling
Employee incentive 

plan Procedural costs Deferred taxes
Total  

provisions

Balance at 31 December 2017 1.7 6.7 0.4 2.7 24.2 35.7 

Provisions raised – – 0.2 0.5 – 0.7 

Provisions used 0.8 0.1 0.2 0.2 1.7 3.0 

Reversals 0.4 0.1 – 0.4 – 0.9 

Balance at 31 December 2018 0.5 6.5 0.4 2.6 22.5 32.5 

Provisions raised – – 0.2 1.9 – 2.1 

Provisions used 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 2.6 3.7 

Reversals 0.2 0.1 – 0.5 – 0.8 

Balance at 31 December 2019 – 6.1 0.3 3.8 19.9 30.1 

Current portion – – 0.3 3.0 – 3.3 
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23.	Other liabilities

The “Other” item contains outstanding obligations towards PKE 
Vorsorgestiftung Energie of CHF 0.4 million (previous year: 
CHF 0.9 million) as at the cut-off date.

24.	Accrued expenses and deferred 
income 

25.	Contingent receivables

Billing method for the ancillary services (AS) surcharge
ElCom defined the billing method for the AS surcharge in its 
4/2018 directive. Under this method, Swissgrid and the distribution 
system operators wait until the subsequent year to finally settle 
payments of AS tariffs for the previous financial year.

The settlement will result in receivables owed to Swissgrid by 
the distribution system operators. However, since the amount of 
these receivables could not be reliably determined when the 
financial statements were prepared, they were recognised as 
contingent receivables.

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Value-added tax 3.6 4.6 

Security deposits on blocked bank 
accounts 0.8 0.8 

Other 0.6 1.0 

5.0 6.4 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Accrued expenses for supplies made 52.8 54.8 

Personnel expenses and employee 
insurance scheme 7.5 6.8 

Accrued interest and premium from 
issued bonds 10.6 10.7 

Taxes 1.4 16.6 

72.3 88.9 
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26.	Other off-balance-sheet commitments 

Grid costs
As stipulated by ElCom, the former owners are entitled to 
chargeable operating and capital costs from the period between 
2009 until the transfer date for the grid elements included in the 
transmission system. Several proceedings are pending in this 
respect.

For that reason, no final cost can be specified on the balance 
sheet date. Swissgrid has recognised the grid costs stipulated for 
each year in its annual financial statements. A reliable assessment 
of the additional grid costs is not possible. The operating and capital 
costs to be remunerated could range between CHF 10.0 million 
and CHF 50.0 million.

Any subsequent changes to the amount of cost compensation 
are taken into account in the annual tariff calculation and will be 
reflected in costs in the subsequent billing periods. 

They do not have any direct impact on Swissgrid’s results.

Assessed transaction value for the transmission system
The ElCom ruling issued on 20 October 2016 definitively estab-
lished the method for determining the assessed value of the 
transmission system. The first remuneration based on this method 
was issued on 3 January 2017. The final remuneration owed under 
this method cannot be determined until all valuation proceedings 
have been finally adjudicated. The financial consequences 
are difficult to predict at this time. However, the outcome of the 
proceedings has no direct impact on Swissgrid’s income.

Joint Allocation Office
As a shareholder of the Joint Allocation Office (JAO), Swissgrid is 
contractually obliged to assume its share of the annual costs.

TSCNET Services GmbH
As a shareholder of TSCNET Services GmbH, Swissgrid is contrac-
tually obliged to assume its share of the annual costs.

Long-term rental contracts

Long-term rental contracts with fixed terms exist with several 
parties. These result in the following obligations:

The long-term rental obligations primarily include the rental 
commitments for Swissgrid’s head office in Aarau. 

Off-balance-sheet lease commitments

Swissgrid has the following off-balance-sheet lease commitments 
for vehicles and office equipment:

27.	 Derivative financial instruments

As at the balance sheet date, derivative financial instruments exist 
to hedge the risk of a change in interest rates for future borrowing. 
The nominal amount of these instruments is CHF 275 million, 
with negative replacement values of CHF 22.1 million as at 
31 December 2019 (previous year: negative replacement values 
of CHF 5.8 million).

Swissgrid made use of derivative financial instruments to 
partially hedge against market price risk from future procurement 
costs. The nominal amount of these instruments is EUR 14.2 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 0.0 million), with negative replacement 
values of EUR 0.3 million as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: 
EUR 0.0 million).

In millions of CHF Up to 1 year Year 2–10
More than 10 

years Total

31.12.2019 6.0 39.3 72.1 117.4 

31.12.2018 7.4 40.4 74.2 122.0 

In millions of CHF Up to 1 year 2–5 years Total

31.12.2019 0.7 0.6 1.3 

31.12.2018 0.7 1.2 1.9 
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28.	Employee pension plan

In this financial year, CHF 1.9 million of the employer contribution 
reserve was used to pay monthly employer contributions.

Swissgrid is affiliated to a collective plan by the pension fund 
PKE Vorsorgestiftung Energie. Therefore, an economic benefit 
or economic obligation cannot be determined on the basis of the 
individual contract. The coverage ratio of the collective plan is 
109.2% as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: 104.4%).

Employer contribution reserve Nominal value Renounced use Balance sheet
Formation of 

ECR Balance sheet
Result from ECR in personnel 

expenses

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 pro 2019 31.12.2019 pro 2019 31.12.2018 2019 2018

Pension fund (PKE) 0.1 – 0.1 – 2.0 –1.9 – 

Total 0.1 – 0.1 – 2.0 –1.9 – 

Economic benefit/economic obligation  
and retirement benefit  
plan expenses 

Shortfall/sur-
plus funding

Economic share of 
the organisation

Change 
compared with 
previous year/ 

affecting  
income in FY

Accrued  
amounts

Pension benefit expenses within 
personnel expenses

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 2019 2018

Pension fund without shortfall/surplus funding 
(PKE) – – – – 7.5 7.5 6.9 

Total – – – – 7.5 7.5 6.9 
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29.	Transactions with related parties 

The conditions relating to related parties are described in Note 1.

30.	Events after the balance sheet date

Swissgrid placed two additional bonds with a total volume of 
CHF 300 million on the capital market on 13 January 2020. Each of 
the bonds is worth CHF 150 million with one coupon of 0.00% and 
a term of 8.4 years, and one coupon of 0.20% and a term of 
12.4 years. The bonds are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. The 
CHF 275 million in interest hedging entered into here (cf. Note 27, 
Derivative financial instruments) was released in January. The 
resulting present value will be capitalised and depreciated over the 
term of the bonds on a straight-line basis.

The financial impact of COVID-19 on Swissgrid currently cannot 
be assessed. However, due to the regulatory business model, no 
significant impact is expected on net income in 2020.

Otherwise, there are no events after the balance sheet date that 
would require disclosure or recognition in the 2019 financial 
statements.

On 22 April 2020, the Board of Directors of Swissgrid Ltd 
approved the 2019 financial statements for submission to the 
General Assembly and for publication.

Transactions with related parties in millions of 
CHF 2019 2018

Total operating activities

Net turnover 293.5 373.6 

thereof grid utilisation 221.1 282.5 

thereof general ancillary services/
balance energy 38.3 59.2 

thereof active power losses 32.4 19.9 

thereof reactive energy 1.7 12.0 

Other operating income 0.6 0.3 

Procurement costs and operating 
expenses

Procurement costs 93.0 125.6 

thereof grid utilisation 0.6 2.9 

thereof general ancillary services/
balance energy 51.7 87.4 

thereof active power losses 5.2 6.8 

thereof reactive energy 35.5 28.5 

Cost of materials and third-party 
supplies 10.2 15.8 

Other operating expenses 6.8 4.4 

Financial result

Financial expenses 9.7 11.8 

Unsettled balances at balance sheet date with 
related parties in millions of CHF 2019 2018

Assets

Trade receivables 56.6 68.7 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 8.7 17.2 

Liabilities

Convertible loans and loans 259.6 312.3 

Trade accounts payable 21.5 24.2 

Accrued expenses and deferred 
income 4.7 13.2 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the General Meeting of Swissgrid Ltd, Aarau 

 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Swissgrid Ltd, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 
2019, the statement of income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 20 to 46) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2019, and its results of operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Swiss GAAP FER. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Swiss audit profession 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

 

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 

 
Accuracy of the calculation of the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related timing differences 

 
Completeness and accuracy of the net turnover and procurement costs 

 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 
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Accuracy of the calculation of the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related timing differences 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 For the 2019 financial year Swissgrid reports an EBIT 
(earnings before interest and taxes) of CHF 102.4 mil-
lion. The change in volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences amounts to CHF +18.4 million.  

The EBIT presented in Swissgrid’s financial state-
ments is legally defined as the multiplication of the in-
vested operating assets (regulatory asset base, 
“RAB”) and volume- and tariff-related timing differ-
ences by the applicable regulatory interest rates plus 
taxes. The RAB consists of the transmission grid as-
sets (incl. construction in progress), the intangible as-
sets and the net current assets determined on a 
monthly basis. 

Cost and volume variances between the actual costs 
and income for a year and the costs and income pre-
determined in advance at tariff level for the same year 
lead to so-called volume- and tariff-related timing dif-
ferences. These are deferred separately as surpluses 
or deficits in the balance sheet and must be amortized 
over the coming years. The yearly change is recorded 
separately in the income statement under “Change in 
volume- and tariff-related timing differences”. 

There is a risk that the EBIT and the volume- and tar-
iff-related timing differences are not calculated accord-
ing to the applicable legal and regulatory provisions 
and that, consequently, the EBIT and the volume- and 
tariff-related timing differences are not presented cor-
rectly in the financial statements. 
 

We have performed mainly the following audit proce-
dures: 

— Identification of the key controls and verification of 
their effectiveness using sampling; 

— Reconciliation of the method used for calculating 
the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences with the legal, administrative and 
regulatory requirements; 

— Recalculation of the interest on the various compo-
nents of the RAB and volume- and tariff-related tim-
ing differences using the interest rates according to 
the legal base (StromVG/StromVV) as well as to 
the decisions and directives of the Swiss Federal 
Electricity Commission (ElCom) and comparison 
with the recorded values;  

— Evaluation of the completeness and transparency 
of the disclosures presented in the financial state-
ments. 

 For further information on the calculation of the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related timing differences 
refer to the notes of the financial statements Swiss GAAP FER under note “1. Accounting principles” (para-
graphs Changes in accounting estimates and Activities according to StromVG), under note “3. Legal proceed-
ings” and under note “4. Segment reporting” (paragraph Change in volume- and tariff-related timing differences 
per segment) as well as under note “12. Extraordinary expenses”. 
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Completeness and accuracy of the net turnover and procurement costs 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 For the 2019 financial year Swissgrid reports a net 
turnover of CHF 672.7 million and the procurement 
costs amount to CHF 224.9 million. 

The calculation of the net turnover (performance) and 
procurement costs is based mainly on the energy data 
directly metered on the transmission system or re-
ported from downstream grid levels. For the measure-
ment of performance, regulated tariffs must mainly be 
taken into account; for the procurement costs the ap-
plicable market prices.  

Swissgrid’s regulated activities are characterized by a 
high volume of IT-based transactions.  

For certain turnover and procurement costs positions, 
no volume base exists at the closing date yet, which 
requires to make estimates and assumptions. 

Due to the transaction volume, the various IT inter-
faces and the estimates / assumptions, there is a risk 
that the performance and costs are not calculated 
completely and correctly. 

 

We have analyzed the process relative to the calcula-
tion of the net turnover and procurement costs and we 
have determined whether the energy data have been 
recorded completely and correctly. In this respect, we 
have among others identified the key controls and we 
have then verified their effectiveness using sampling. 
We have considered the high degree of integration of 
the provision and recording of services by the various IT 
systems by testing the effectiveness of the general IT 
controls and application controls of the relevant IT sys-
tems for accounting purposes with the assistance of our 
IT specialists. 
 
In order to assess the completeness and accuracy, we 
have also critically examined the main assumptions and 
evaluated the accuracy of the forecasts regarding the 
presented accruals, in particular by comparing retro-
spectively the accrued amounts and the actual 
amounts. 
 
Furthermore, we have assessed the appropriateness of 
the disclosures in the financial statements concerning 
the corresponding positions of the balance sheet and in-
come statement. 
 

 For further information on the net turnover and the procurement costs refer to the notes of the financial state-
ments Swiss GAAP FER under note “2. Estimation uncertainty” and under note “4. Segment reporting” (para-
graph Segment report 2019) as well as under note “5. Net turnover and procurement costs according to the 
electricity supply act (StromVG)”. 
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Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement re-
sulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or condi-
tions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with rel-
evant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those mat-
ters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
 
KPMG AG 
 
 
 
 
 
Rolf Hauenstein Beatriz Vazquez 
Licensed Audit Expert 
 

Licensed Audit Expert   

 

Basel, 22 April 2020 
 

KPMG AG, Viaduktstrasse 42, PO Box 3456, 4002 Basel 

KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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Income statement

Statutory financial 
statements

In millions of CHF Notes 2019 2018

Net turnover 3 672.7 907.9 

Other operating income 4 13.2 12.9 

Change in volume- and tariff-related timing differences 21.0 –219.6 

Capitalised self-constructed assets 12.6 14.6 

Total operating income 719.5 715.8 

Procurement costs 3 224.9 263.4 

Gross profit 494.6 452.4 

Cost of materials and third-party supplies 5 82.5 72.9 

Personnel expenses 6 89.7 82.6 

Other operating expenses 7 28.7 29.4 

Earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortisation 293.7 267.5 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 121.0 110.1 

Amortisation on intangible assets 40.0 38.2 

Impairment losses 8 31.6 – 

Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT) 101.1 119.2 

Financial income 1.2 0.8 

Financial expenses 33.3 39.1 

Ordinary result 69.0 80.9 

Extraordinary expenses 9 36.7 – 

Profit for the year before taxes 32.3 80.9 

Income taxes 7.1 17.0 

Profit for the year 25.2 63.9 
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Balance sheet 
Assets

Equity and liabilities

In millions of CHF Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Cash and cash equivalents 229.1 157.6 

Trade accounts receivable 10 119.0 142.7 

Other receivables 1.7 1.5 

Inventory 1.2 1.3 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 11 48.2 57.0 

Short-term deficits arising from volume-and tariff-related timing differences 35.0 – 

Assets held on a fiduciary basis 12 14.8 17.9 

Current assets 449.0 378.0 

Financial assets 13 0.1 2.0 

Shareholdings 14 8.7 8.4 

Property, plant and equipment 15 2,249.6 2,279.2 

Intangible assets 16 257.8 281.4 

Long-term deficits arising from volume-and tariff-related timing differences 46.6 91.8 

Non-current assets 2,562.8 2,662.8 

Assets 3,011.8 3,040.8 

In millions of CHF Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trade accounts payable 17 67.2 70.0 

Current financial liabilities 20 519.2 145.2 

Other liabilities 18 5.0 6.4 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 19 72.3 88.9 

Current provisions 21 3.3 2.5 

Current surpluses arising from volume-and tariff-related timing differences 29.6 6.3 

Liabilities held on a fiduciary basis 12 14.8 17.9 

Current liabilities 711.4 337.2 

Non-current financial liabilities 20 1,040.5 1,425.6 

Non-current provisions 21 6.9 7.5 

Non-current surpluses arising from volume-and tariff-related timing differences 124.7 142.5 

Non-current liabilities 1,172.1 1,575.6 

Liabilities 1,883.5 1,912.8 

Share capital 22 320.4 318.1 

Legal capital reserves 409.0 403.4 

Reserves from capital contributions 409.0 403.4 

Legal retained earnings 1.6 1.6 

General legal reserves 1.6 1.6 

Voluntary retained earnings 397.3 404.9 

Available earnings 397.3 404.9 

Results carried forward 372.1 341.0 

Profit for the year 25.2 63.9 

Equity 1,128.3 1,128.0 

Equity and liabilities 3,011.8 3,040.8 
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Cash flow statement 

Other expenses not affecting revenue and expenditure
This item is comprised of the reversal of the volume- and tariff-
related timing differences (CHF 36.7 million) reported in the 
income statement and the share of the employer contribution 
reserve used in 2019 (CHF 1.9 million).

Investing and financing activities not affecting cash
The purchase consideration of CHF 26.2 million for the transfer 
of additional parts of the transmission grid was settled 30% in 
Swissgrid shares and 70% in loans.

In millions of CHF, excluding balance sheet items held on fiduciary basis Notes 2019 2018

Profit for the year 25.2 63.9 

Financial expenses 33.3 39.1 

Financial income –1.2 –0.8 

Current income taxes 7.1 17.0 

Depreciation and amortisation 161.0 148.3 

Impairment losses 31.6 – 

Other expenses not affecting revenue and expenditure 38.6 – 

Gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets –0.4 –0.1 

Change in provisions 0.2 –1.5 

Change in inventory 0.1 0.8 

Change in trade accounts receivable 23.7 15.5 

Change in other receivables –0.2 1.0 

Change in prepaid expenses and accrued income 8.8 –7.5 

Change in volume- and tariff-related timing differences –21.0 219.6 

Change in trade accounts payable –2.8 16.5 

Change in other current liabilities –1.4 –7.0 

Change in accrued expenses and deferred income –3.4 –29.1 

Income taxes paid –20.4 –24.6 

Cash flow from operating activities 278.8 451.1 

Gross investments in property, plant and equipment –136.8 –238.2 

Congestion proceeds received for grid investments 40.1 – 

Net investments in property, plant and equipment –96.7 –238.2 

Divestment in property, plant and equipment 0.2 1.1 

Investments in intangible assets –16.2 –26.1 

Divestment in intangible assets – 3.9 

Investments in shareholdings –0.2 – 

Divestment in shareholdings – 0.1 

Dividends received 0.9 0.6 

Cash flow from investing activities –112.0 –258.6 

Change in current financial liabilities –154.4 –143.1 

Issuing of bonds 125.0 – 

Interest paid –33.1 –38.6 

Dividends paid –32.8 –29.4 

Cash flow from financing activities –95.3 –211.1 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 71.5 –18.6 

Composition

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 157.6 176.2 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 229.1 157.6 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 71.5 –18.6 
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Notes

1.	 Accounting principles

General information
The financial statements for Swissgrid Ltd, Aarau, have been 
prepared in accordance with the Swiss Law on Accounting and 
Financial Reporting (Title 32 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). 
The valuation principles applied are described below.

Changes in accounting estimates  ElCom concluded the adminis-
trative proceedings on the system audit launched in 2016 by 
issuing a ruling in 2019. In particular, ElCom ruled that Swissgrid is 
required to adjust the methodology for calculating and applying 
interest to volume- and tariff-related timing differences. This results 
in lower imputed interest of CHF 1.1 million for the 2019 financial 
year compared to the previous calculation methodology.

The entry into force of the provisions under the federal law 
“Electricity Grid Strategy” on 1 June 2019 was accompanied by the 
entry into force of Art. 15, paragraph 2, letter c of the Federal 
Electricity Supply Act (StromVG), according to which one-off 
remuneration for easements is reported in operating expenses and 
can no longer be capitalised in intangible assets. As a result of this 
legal provision, easements of CHF 8.6 million were assigned to 
operating costs from 1 June 2019.

In a ruling issued to a third party in 2019, the Federal Adminis-
trative Court decided that dismantling costs for old plants are not 
part of the regulatory asset values for replacement plants. In 
response to this decision, Swissgrid adapted its capitalisation 
process.

Conversion of foreign currency items
The accounting records are maintained in local currency (Swiss 
francs, CHF). All short-term monetary assets and liabilities 
recognised in foreign currencies are converted at the exchange 
rate as of the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign curren-
cies are converted at the exchange rate on the day the transaction 
took place. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
transactions in foreign currencies are recognised in the income 
statement and are presented in the same line item as the underly-
ing transaction. 

Cash flow statement
Cash and cash equivalents form the basis for the presentation of 
the cash flow statement. The cash flow from operating activities is 
calculated using the indirect method.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised in the income statement upon performance 
of Swissgrid’s obligations. For activities regulated under the Federal 
Electricity Supply Act (StromVG), the measurement of performance 
is based mainly on energy volumes directly metered on the 
transmission grid or reported from downstream grid levels. 

For certain revenue and procurement items, initial billing values 
are available six weeks after delivery at the earliest, thereby 
rendering accruals necessary based on historical and statistical 
data, as well as on estimates.

Activities according to StromVG
Volume- and tariff-related timing differences (surpluses and 
deficits)  According to Art. 14 of the Electricity Supply Act (Strom-
VG), grid utilisation costs must be allocated to users on a user-pays 
basis. The tariffs for a financial year are determined based on 
planned costs. Due to price and volume deviations, actual expenses 
and income vary from the tariff calculation on both the revenue and 
procurement side. This results in surpluses or deficits, i.e. the tariff 
revenues from a financial year are higher or lower than the actual 
expenses incurred during the same period. These volume- and 
tariff-related timing differences are transferred to the balance sheet 
and taken into account in cost and revenue calculations for future 
tariff periods. The expected reduction in volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences within 12 months of the balance sheet date 
is recognised as short-term surpluses or deficits arising from 
volume- and tariff-related timing differences in the balance sheet.

EBIT regulated under StromVG  Earnings before interest and taxes 
(EBIT) from activities related to the Federal Electricity Supply Act 
(StromVG) are defined in Article 13 of the Electricity Supply 
Ordinance (StromVV) and are equivalent to the interest applied to 
the assets required to operate the transmission system with the 
weighted average cost of capital rate (WACC) for the current year 
under review (= WACCt+0) and the interest applied to the volume- 
and tariff-related timing difference with the weighted average cost 
of capital rate of WACCt+2 plus income taxes.

Accordingly, invested operating assets consist of net current 
assets calculated on a monthly basis as well as the property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets as at the end of the financial 
year. The weighted average cost of capital rate (WACC) is based on 
the current international practice of the WACC capital cost concept 
with reference to the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). Besides 
considering the findings of financial market theory, the regulatory 
framework conditions in Switzerland and the current situation in the 
money and capital market are also taken into account. The official 
weighted average cost of capital rates for 2019 (WACCt+0) and 2021 
(WACCt+2) based on this method of calculation are unchanged from 
the 3.83% used in the previous year.

The chargeability of Swissgrid’s operating and capital costs for 
tariff-setting purposes is subject to approval by ElCom, which takes 
place ex post. In case of an ex post cost adjustment, an appeal can 
be lodged with the Federal Administrative Court with the possibility 
of appeal to the Federal Supreme Court. A cost adjustment 
impacting Swissgrid’s operating result is applied whenever no 
appeal is lodged, or whenever an appeal’s prospects for success 
are judged to be less than 50% on the basis of a reappraisal, or 
whenever a legally binding ruling is issued.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at the cost of 
acquisition or production less accumulated amortisation and any 
impairment losses. Significant spare parts which are likely to be 
used for a longer period and whose use only takes place in 
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connection with a non-current asset item are recognised in 
non-current assets and depreciated over the remaining useful life 
of the relevant asset.

Depreciation/amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method on the basis of the estimated useful technical and 
economic service life.

The service life is determined as follows:
–– Lines: 15 to 60 years
–– Substations: 10 to 35 years
–– Buildings and expansions: 5 to 50 years
–– Other property, plant and equipment: 3 to 8 years 
–– Construction in progress and properties: only applicable in 

the case of an impairment loss

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised at the cost of acquisition or 
production less accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses. Depreciation/amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method on the basis of the estimated useful technical and 
economic service life.

The service life is determined as follows:
–– Rights of use: contract term
–– Software and technical regulations: 3 to 5 years
–– Intangible assets under development: only applicable in the 

case of an impairment loss 

The merger losses (goodwill) resulting from the mergers on 
3 January 2013 and 5 January 2015 are also recognised in this 
item. Goodwill is depreciated on a straight-line basis over 20 years 
and is reviewed annually for impairments.

Impairment losses 
The value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
is reviewed annually. If there is an indication of an impairment loss, 
the book value is reduced to the realisable value and an impair-
ment loss is charged to the results of the period.

Construction in progress/intangible assets under development
Construction in progress and intangible assets under development 
are non-current assets that are not yet completed or not yet 
operational. All items of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, including self-constructed assets, are classified 
as non-current assets. As of each balance sheet date, a review is 
performed to determine whether any construction in progress or 
intangible assets under development have to be impaired. These 
are recognised as impairment losses in the year of completion. 
Ordinary depreciation or amortisation of these assets begins once 
they are completed or ready for operation.

Financial assets
Financial assets are measured at acquisition costs less any 
impairment losses. Employer contribution reserves without 
conditional renounced use are also recognised in financial assets.

Shareholdings
Shareholdings are measured at acquisition costs less any impair-
ment losses. These include shareholdings with a capital share of 
over 20%, but which do not have a significant impact on the financial 
statements, as well as shareholdings with a capital share of less than 
20% that do have a significant impact.

Inventory
Inventory includes waste material for maintaining the grid systems. 
Inventory is measured at the lower of acquisition cost or market 
price. 

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are reported at their nominal value less any 
impairment losses required for business reasons.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash at banks 
and deposits at banks maturing in 90 days or less. They are 
recognised at their nominal value.

Bonds
Bonds issued on the capital market are recognised at their nominal 
value. Deviations from the nominal value in the case of below- or 
above-par issues are recognised as accruals and deferrals and are 
reversed on a straight-line basis over the term of the bond.

Liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised at their nominal value.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised if there is an obligation based on an 
event that took place prior to the balance sheet date, the amount 
and/or due date of which is uncertain but capable of being 
estimated.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are measured as at the balance sheet date. A 
provision is reported if a cash outflow without a usable countervalue 
is probable and assessable. Otherwise, contingent liabilities are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interest on borrowed capital
Interest on borrowed capital is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which it arises. 

Income taxes
Current income taxes are calculated based on the taxable results 
on an accruals basis.

Derivative financial instruments
Swissgrid uses derivative financial instruments to hedge against 
currency, interest rate and market risks. If the conditions are met, 
Swissgrid will apply hedge accounting to hedge expected future 
cash flows. 

The instruments used for this purpose will be disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements until the underlying transaction is 
realised. 
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2.	 Estimation uncertainty

Financial-statement reporting requires estimates and assumptions 
to be made that may have a significant impact on Swissgrid’s 
financial statements. With respect to assets and liabilities recog-
nised in the balance sheet, accruals and deferrals (prepaid 
expenses and accrued income/accrued expenses and deferred 
income) and volume- and tariff-related timing differences in 
particular are based on various assumptions and estimates that 
may necessitate significant adjustments. This is due to specific 
volumes not being available for certain revenue and procurement 
items when the financial statements are prepared, as well as 
regulatory uncertainties. The volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences are also influenced by estimates in the allocation of 
operating expenses to the segments.

For more information on this, the reader is referred to the notes 
in the sections on “Revenue recognition” and “Activities according 
to StromVG” in Note 1 as well as the comments in Note 26.

3.	 Net turnover and procurement costs

Net turnover
For the 2019 financial year, net turnover across all segments 
amounts to CHF 672.7 million. Net turnover of CHF 907.9 million 
was recorded in the previous year. The CHF 235.2 million decline 
in turnover is spread across the grid utilisation, general ancillary 
services and reactive energy segments. The largest drop was 
reported by the grid utilisation segment, with a decrease of 
CHF 184.9 million. The reasons for this are lower tariff revenue of 
CHF 89.8 million and lower income from auctions for the reduction 
of chargeable grid costs (CHF 88.6 million). Lower tariff revenue is 
also responsible for the fall in net turnover in the two other seg-
ments. By contrast, net turnover in the active power losses segment 
increased by CHF 29.5 million due to higher tariff revenue and 
higher income from ITC.

Procurement costs
At CHF 224.9 million, procurement costs are CHF 38.5 million lower 
than the previous year’s value of CHF 263.4 million. This decrease 
is primarily due to the CHF 24.9 million reduction in costs for 
ancillary services energy in the general ancillary services segment, 
and the CHF 18.1 million drop in procurement costs in the active 
power losses segment. By contrast, costs in the grid utilisation 
segment increased due to higher additional remuneration for 
operating and capital costs to former transmission system owners 
(CHF 15.6 million).

More detailed comments on the individual segments, including 
the effects on the volume- and tariff-related timing differences, can 
be found in Note 4 to the financial statements in accordance with 
Swiss GAAP FER.

4.	 Other operating income

5.	 Materials and third-party supplies 

The entry into force of the provisions under the federal law 
“Electricity Grid Strategy” on 1 June 2019 was accompanied by 
the entry into force of Art. 15, paragraph 2, letter c of the Federal 
Electricity Supply Act (StromVG), according to which one-off 
remuneration for easements is reported in operating expenses and 
can no longer be capitalised. In addition, higher costs for mixed-
use assets were reported in 2019 than in 2018, which led to an 
increase in the “Other services in the grid area” item compared to 
the previous year.

By contrast, lower costs were reported for grid maintenance 
due to lower maintenance costs and for substation control services 
due to the connection of additional substations to Swissgrid’s grid 
control system in comparison to the previous year.

 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Congestion management clearing 11.2 10.0 

Other 2.0 2.9 

13.2 12.9 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Grid maintenance 21.3 24.6 

Grid system control 0.5 4.2 

Other services in the grid area 23.8 8.7 

Expenses for projects, advisory and 
non-cash benefits 26.6 25.5 

Hardware/software maintenance 10.3 9.9 

82.5 72.9 
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6.	 Personnel expenses 

Other personnel expenses include, in particular, the costs of 
training and further education, recruitment, lump-sum expenses as 
well as allowances for external catering for employees.

The average number of full-time equivalents exceeded 250 in 
the reporting period, as was the case the previous year.

7.	 Other operating expenses 

Board of Directors’ fees and expenses represent fixed gross 
remuneration. The remuneration paid to the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors amounted to CHF 250,000, including lump-sum 
expenses (previous year: CHF 250,000). The remaining members 
of the Board of Directors received remuneration of between 
CHF 55,000 and CHF 65,000 pro rata temporis for 2019, including 
lump-sum expenses (previous year: CHF 55,000 to CHF 65,000).

Further information on the members of the Board of Directors 
can be found in the Corporate Governance Report.

8.	 Impairment losses

As a result of ElCom’s ruling in the proceedings on the system audit 
as well as a ruling by the Federal Administrative Court of relevance 
for Swissgrid in relation to a third party, Swissgrid was forced to 
adjust the value of, in particular, capitalised transaction costs 
(CHF 23.4 million), components of self-constructed assets not 
chargeable as capital costs (CHF 2.0 million) and dismantling costs 
(CHF 4.5 million) as at 31 December 2019. 

For further information see Note 26, Legal proceedings.

9.	 Extraordinary expenses

The cumulative financial effects on net income resulting from 
ElCom’s ruling of 12 December 2019 on the system audit amount 
to CHF 33 million, due to the adjustments to be made for the years 
from 2011 and from 2013 to 2018.

Matters derived from, but not directly associated with, ElCom’s 
ruling in the proceedings on the system audit have placed an 
additional burden on net income in the amount of CHF 2.9 million. 
Firstly, the imputed interest recorded in the past on costs to be 
included in the formation of provisions was adjusted (CHF 2.6 mil-
lion). Secondly, the other income assigned to the segments and the 
other activities was also adjusted, which resulted in an additional 
negative effect of CHF 0.3 million.

Moreover, in a ruling issued to a third party in 2019, the Federal 
Administrative Court decided that dismantling costs for old plants 
are not part of the regulatory asset values of replacement plants. As 
a result of this decision, Swissgrid adjusted the imputed interest 
based on the capitalised dismantling costs of CHF 0.8 million that 
were declared in the years between 2013 and 2018, and rec-
ognised these in the income statement.

For further information see Note 26, Legal proceedings.

10.	 Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables include CHF 15.3 mil-
lion (previous year: CHF 27.5 million) in relation to companies with a 
direct or indirect shareholding in Swissgrid.

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Salaries, bonuses, allowances 72.7 67.2 

Employee insurance 13.3 12.1 

Other personnel expenses 3.7 3.3 

89.7 82.6 

In millions of CHF 2019 2018

Rental and occupancy costs 9.1 9.4 

Ground rents 4.5 4.1 

Rental costs for communication 
equipment/telecommunication 
expense 3.3 4.0 

Board of Directors’ fees and expenses, 
incl. social costs 0.8 0.8 

Actual expenses for travel and subsist-
ence for employees and third parties 2.2 2.0 

Fees, dues and licences 4.5 5.0 

Insurance 1.6 1.5 

Other administrative costs 2.7 2.6 

28.7 29.4 



59

11.	 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 

In particular, other prepaid expenses and accrued income contains 
the discount on bond issues and financing and issue costs, which 
are amortised over the term of the financing instrument.

12.	Balance sheet items held on a  
fiduciary basis

Pursuant to the ElCom letter of approval issued on 18 January 
2018, income from auctions of CHF 114.5 million (previous year: 
CHF 132.6 million) was paid to Swissgrid in 2019.

To partially hedge the EUR/CHF currency risk from expected 
future income in euros, derivative financial instruments (futures) 
in the nominal amount of EUR 70.1 million exist as at the balance 
sheet date. The positive replacement values as at 31 December 
2019 amount to CHF 1.5 million (previous year: positive replace-
ment values of CHF 1.7 million).

13.	Financial assets

In this financial year, CHF 1.9 million of the employer contribution 
reserve was used to pay monthly employer contributions.

14.	Shareholdings

Letters used for locations and currencies:
A	 =	 Aarau (formerly Laufenburg, CH) | Currency CHF
B	 =	 Luxembourg (Lux) | Currency EUR
C	 =	 Munich (D) | Currency EUR
D	 =	 Paris (F) | Currency EUR
E	 =	 Frick (CH) | Currency CHF
F	 =	 Embrach (CH) | Currency CHF

In September 2019, Swissgrid acquired a holding in ecmt AG, 
headquartered in Embrach (CH). ecmt AG uses the Management 
Seismograph application to support its customers in integral risk, 
disaster and business continuity management (BCM), as well as 
with status and situational monitoring.

Swissgrid is not legally obliged to prepare consolidated financial 
statements. Either the control principle necessary to prepare a 
consolidated financial statement (Art. 963 Code of Obligations 
(OR)) is not met, or the subsidiaries do not have a material influence 
on Swissgrid’s financial statements. In particular, Pronovo AG is 
regulated by the Swiss Federal Office of Energy (SFOE) and is 
explicitly excluded from any consolidation with Swissgrid based on 
Art. 64 (5) of the Energy Act (EnG).

Otherwise, the information is unchanged from the previous year.

Kraftwerke Hinterrhein Netz AG A 0.100 100.0 

LENA Lonza Energie Netz AG A 0.100 100.0 

Nordostschweizerische Kraftwerke 
Grid AG A 0.100 100.0 

Ofible Rete SA A 0.100 100.0 

Ofima Rete SA A 0.100 100.0 

Repower Transportnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

SN Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

Übertragungsnetz Basel/Aarau AG A 0.100 100.0 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Accrued revenue for supplies made 45.6 54.1 

Other 2.6 2.9 

48.2 57.0 

Share 
capital 

in m. Share in %

Joint Allocation Office (JAO) B 0.100 5.0 

TSCNET Services GmbH C 0.033 7.7 

Holding des Gestionnaires de Réseau 
de Transport d’Electricité SAS (HGRT) D 52.119 5.0 

Pronovo AG E 0.100 100.0 

ecmt AG F 0.100 20.0 

AET NE1 SA A 0.100 100.0 

ALENA Aletsch Energie Netz AG A 0.100 100.0 

Alpiq Netz AG Gösgen/Aarau A 0.100 100.0 

Alpiq Réseau SA Lausanne/Aarau A 0.100 100.0 

BKW Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

CKW Grid AG A 0.100 100.0 

EGL Grid AG A 0.100 100.0 

ewb Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

ewz Übertragungsnetz AG A 0.100 100.0 

FMV Réseau SA A 0.100 100.0 
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15.	Property, plant and equipment

The book values of the individual categories are as follows:

16.	 Intangible assets

The book values of the individual categories are as follows:

17.	 Trade accounts payable

As at 31 December 2019, trade accounts payable include 
CHF 20.2 million (previous year: CHF 23.1 million) in relation to 
companies with a direct or indirect shareholding in Swissgrid. 
Liabilities amounting to CHF 5,924 (previous year: CHF 10,770) 
exist in relation to the external auditor as at 31 December 2019.

18.	Other liabilities

The “Other” item contains obligations towards PKE Vorsorges-
tiftung Energie of CHF 0.4 million (previous year: CHF 0.9 million) 
as at 31 December 2019.

19.	 Accrued expenses and deferred 
income

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Intangible assets under development 12.9 29.3 

Usage rights 86.7 84.8 

Software 49.3 50.0 

Merger losses (goodwill) 108.9 117.3 

257.8 281.4 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Construction in progress 366.4 350.7 

Substations 781.2 809.5 

Lines 929.4 951.6 

Properties and buildings 156.4 157.2 

Other property, plant and equipment 16.2 10.2 

2,249.6 2,279.2 
In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Value-added tax 3.6 4.6 

Security deposits on blocked bank 
accounts 0.8 0.8 

Other 0.6 1.0 

5.0 6.4 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Accrued expenses for supplies made 52.8 54.8 

Personnel expenses and employee 
insurance scheme 7.5 6.8 

Accrued interest and premium from 
issued bonds 10.6 10.7 

Taxes 1.4 16.6 

72.3 88.9 
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20.	Financial liabilities

Bonds

Convertible loans and loans
Convertible loans have a term of nine years and one-fifth of the 
loans become payable annually from year five. As a result, the next 
partial repayment of convertible loans, amounting to CHF 145.2 mil-
lion, was made at the start of the 2019 financial year. Moreover, 
loans are also assigned a conversion right by Swissgrid in the event 
of occurrence of contractually defined events and an associated 
conversion obligation by the creditors. Creditors are compensated 
by a premium on the interest rate for the conversion right assigned 
to Swissgrid. Convertible loans are recognised in full in liabilities.

The interest conditions and maturities of convertible loans and 
loans are as follows: 

Convertible loans and loans are assessed at their nominal value.

As at 31 December 2019, convertible loans of CHF 343.3 million 
(previous year: CHF 400.5 million) exist towards companies with a 
direct or indirect shareholding in Swissgrid.

21.	 Provisions

Procedural costs
With the grid takeovers on 3 January 2013 and 5 January 2015 
and the associated spin-offs of the procedural companies from the 
grid companies, contractual regulations mean that Swissgrid is 
responsible for the costs of proceedings attributable to the 
procedural companies. The provision corresponds to Swissgrid’s 
expected future expenses for party, court and legal costs that may 
arise for the procedural companies as part of their administrative 
procedures in conducting proceedings.

The provision amount also includes the estimated compensa-
tion payable to parties and the court costs imposed on Swissgrid 
due to the administrative procedures in conducting proceedings.

22.	Share capital and reserves from 
capital contributions

The share capital consists of 320,398,149 (previous year: 
318,141,670) fully paid-up registered shares with a par value of 
CHF 1 per share.

23.	Derivative financial instruments

As at the balance sheet date, derivative financial instruments exist 
to hedge the risk of a change in interest rates for future borrowing. 
The nominal amount of these instruments is CHF 275 million, 
with negative replacement values of CHF 22.1 million as at 
31 December 2019 (previous year: negative replacement values 
of CHF 5.8 million).

Swissgrid made use of derivative financial instruments to 
partially hedge against market price risk from future procurement 
costs. The nominal amount of these instruments is EUR 14.2 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 0.0 million), with negative replacement 
values of EUR 0.3 million as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: 
EUR 0.0 million).

Nominal amount in CHF Interest rate Term
Expiry at nominal 

value

350 million 1.000% 2013–2020 30.01.2020

350 million 1.625% 2013–2025 30.01.2025

150 million 0.625% 2015–2030 21.02.2030

125 million 0.050% 2019–2050 30.06.2050

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Restructuring – 0.5 

Dismantling 6.1 6.5 

Employee incentive plan 0.3 0.4 

Procedural costs 3.8 2.6 

Total provisions 10.2 10.0 

Current portion 3.3 2.5 

In millions of CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Bonds 975.0 850.0 

Convertible loans 584.6 720.7 

Loans 0.1 0.1 

Total financial liabilities 1,559.7 1,570.8 

Current portion 519.2 145.2 

Category
Interest rate p.a. 

(range) Up to 1 year 2–5 years
More than  

5 years

Convertible 
loans 3.36–3.93% 169.2 404.4 11.0 

Loans 0.00% – – 0.1 
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24.	Contingent receivables

Billing method for ancillary services (AS)
ElCom defined the billing method for the AS surcharge in its 
4/2018 directive. Under this method, Swissgrid and the distribution 
system operators wait until the subsequent year to finally settle 
payments of AS tariffs for the previous financial year.

The settlement will result in receivables owed to Swissgrid by 
the distribution system operators. However, since the amount 
of these receivables could not be reliably determined when the 
financial statements were prepared, they were recognised as 
contingent receivables.

25.	Other off-balance-sheet commitments

Grid costs
As stipulated by ElCom, the former owners are entitled to chargeable 
operating and capital costs from the period between 2009 until 
the transfer date for the grid elements included in the transmission 
system. Several proceedings are pending in this respect. 

For that reason, no final cost can be specified on the balance 
sheet date. Swissgrid has recognised the grid costs stipulated for 
each year in its annual financial statements. A reliable assessment 
of the additional grid costs is not possible. The operating and capital 
costs to be remunerated could range between CHF 10.0 million 
and CHF 50.0 million.

Any subsequent changes to the amount of cost compensation 
are taken into account in the annual tariff calculation and will be 
reflected in costs in the subsequent billing periods. 

They do not have any direct impact on Swissgrid’s results.

Assessed transaction value for the transmission system
The ElCom ruling issued on 20 October 2016 definitively estab-
lished the method for determining the assessed value of the 
transmission system. The first remuneration based on this method 
was issued on 3 January 2017. 

The final remuneration owed under this method cannot be 
determined until all valuation proceedings have been finally 
adjudicated. The financial consequences are difficult to predict at 
this time. However, the outcome of the proceedings has no direct 
impact on Swissgrid’s income.

Joint Allocation Office (JAO)
As a shareholder of the Joint Allocation Office (JAO), Swissgrid is 
contractually obliged to assume its share of the annual costs.

TSCNET Services GmbH
As a shareholder of TSCNET Services GmbH, Swissgrid is contrac-
tually obliged to assume its share of the annual costs.

Off-balance-sheet lease commitments
Swissgrid has the following off-balance-sheet lease commitments 
for vehicles and office equipment:

Long-term rental contracts
Long-term rental contracts with fixed terms exist with several 
parties. These result in the following obligations:

The long-term rental obligations primarily include the rental 
commitments for Swissgrid’s head office in Aarau. 

26.	Legal proceedings

ElCom proceedings on the system audit
ElCom concluded the administrative proceedings on the system 
audit launched in 2016 and issued its ruling on 12 December 
2019. The object of these proceedings was to calculate the capital 
costs from 2013 to 2015, the volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences in the grid utilisation segments from 2013 to 2015, and 
the ancillary services from 2011 to 2015.

The focus of ElCom’s very first system audit was to investigate 
the compatibility of the processes and procedures for calculating 
capital costs and volume- and tariff-related timing differences with 
electricity supply legislation. These proceedings did not examine 
the amount of the costs. However, any corrections ordered by 
ElCom can have an impact on costs.

In December 2018, ElCom submitted an audit report on the 
system audit for Swissgrid to provide an opinion, which Swissgrid 
submitted in June 2019. A statement as to whether, and the extent 
to which, this system audit will result in a reduction of Swissgrid’s 
chargeable costs was only possible upon receipt of the ruling on 
12 December 2019. The Swissgrid Board of Directors decided not 
to appeal against the ruling.

In its ruling, ElCom ordered Swissgrid to adapt the method for 
calculating and applying interest to the volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences with retroactive effect from 2011 and 2013 
respectively. The cumulative financial effects of the necessary 
adjustments for the years from 2011 and from 2013 to 2019 as a 
result of the ruling place a total burden of CHF 34.1 million on 
Swissgrid’s 2019 net income.

Of this amount, CHF 1.1 million is attributable to 2019 (cf. 
Note 1, Changes in accounting estimates) and CHF 33 million 
relates to the years from 2011 and from 2013 to 2018 (cf. Note 9, 
Extraordinary expenses).

In millions of CHF Up to 1 year 2–5 years Total

31.12.2019 0.7 0.6 1.3 

31.12.2018 0.7 1.2 1.9 

In millions of CHF Up to 1 year Year 2–10
More than 10 

years Total

31.12.2019 6.0 39.3 72.1 117.4 

31.12.2018 7.4 40.4 74.2 122.0 
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effects from the adjustments made after the ElCom ruling on the 
system audit and other regulatory effects. Swissgrid’s equity 
situation is therefore not jeopardised, even in the event that the 
maximum risk of CHF 75 million occurs.

Swissgrid’s Board of Directors and Executive Board believe that 
all costs for the years 2011 to 2019 were incurred within the 
framework of Swissgrid’s legal mandate and should therefore 
qualify as chargeable. Based on this assessment, Swissgrid has 
treated all operating and capital costs as chargeable and conse-
quently recognised them in full in the volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences. If, contrary to Swissgrid’s assessment, the 
costs claimed are ruled to be non-chargeable, this would be 
reflected in future financial statements. 

Third-party proceedings
The financial impact of third-party proceedings in which Swissgrid 
is involved are included in Swissgrid’s financial statements if the 
Swiss GAAP FER criteria for recognition have been met. However, 
they have no direct impact on Swissgrid’s results as they are 
included in the volume- and tariff-related timing differences.

27.	 Audit fees

In 2019, the fees for audit services amount to CHF 0.22 million 
(previous year: CHF 0.18 million) and CHF 0.02 million (previous 
year: CHF 0.09 million) for other services.

28.	Events after the balance sheet date

Swissgrid placed two additional bonds with a total volume of 
CHF 300 million on the capital market on 13 January 2020. Each of 
the bonds is worth CHF 150 million with one coupon of 0.00% and 
a term of 8.4 years, and one coupon of 0.20% and a term of 
12.4 years. The bonds are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. The 
CHF 275 million in interest hedging entered into here (cf. Note 23, 
Derivative financial instruments) was released in January. The 
resulting present value will be capitalised and depreciated over the 
term of the bonds on a straight-line basis.

The financial impact of COVID-19 on Swissgrid currently 
cannot be assessed. However, due to the regulatory business 
model, no significant impact is expected on net income in 2020.

Otherwise, there are no events after the balance sheet date that 
would require disclosure or recognition in the 2019 financial 
statements.

On 22 April 2020, the Board of Directors of Swissgrid Ltd 
approved the 2019 financial statements for submission to the 
General Assembly and for publication.

Additionally, in its ruling, ElCom decided that Swissgrid had to 
derecognise transaction costs capitalised in the previous years 
(CHF 23.4 million) and components of self-constructed assets not 
chargeable as capital costs (CHF 2 million) of CHF 25.4 million from 
non-current assets (cf. Note 8, Impairment losses). This decision 
delivered new and important findings and is the reason for 
Swissgrid’s derecognition of the aforementioned transaction costs 
and components of self-constructed assets not chargeable as 
capital costs in the amount of CHF 25.4 million from non-current 
assets by way of a value adjustment (cf. Note 8, Impairment 
losses).

Matters derived from the ElCom proceedings on the system 
audit
Matters derived from, but not directly associated with, ElCom’s 
ruling in the proceedings on the system audit have placed an 
additional burden on net income in the amount of CHF 2.9 million 
(cf. Note 9, Extraordinary expenses). Firstly, the imputed interest 
recorded in the past on costs to be included in the formation of 
provisions, was adjusted (CHF 2.6 million). ElCom’s requirements 
state that costs may only be recognised once they have effectively 
accrued. For provisions, this is the time at which the provision is 
effectively used, not the time it is formed. Secondly, the other 
income assigned to the regulatory segments and the other activities 
in the previous years was also adjusted, which has an additional 
negative effect of CHF 0.3 million. 

Federal Administrative Court ruling for a third party regarding 
the chargeability of dismantling costs
In a ruling issued to a third party in 2019, the Federal Administrative 
Court decided that dismantling costs for old plants are not part of 
the regulatory asset values for replacement plants. This decision 
provided new and important findings with regard to the regulatory 
treatment of dismantling costs. From a regulatory perspective, 
dismantling costs cannot be recognised as capital costs, which 
means that no imputed interest can be assigned. Swissgrid 
consequently adjusted the imputed interest based on the capital-
ised dismantling costs of CHF 0.8 million that were declared in the 
past (in the years between 2013 and 2018), and recognised these 
in the income statement (cf. Note 9, Extraordinary expenses). In 
addition, Swissgrid derecognised the capitalised dismantling costs 
of CHF 4.5 million from property, plant and equipment by way of a 
value adjustment (cf. Note 8, Impairment losses).

ElCom proceedings to calculate volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences for 2011 and 2012
In its letter dated 23 August 2019, ElCom reopened proceedings to 
calculate the volume- and tariff-related timing differences for 2011 
and 2012. ElCom has not yet initiated any proceedings to examine 
the volume- and tariff-related timing differences for the years from 
2013 to 2019. These proceedings will examine the chargeability 
of Swissgrid’s capital and operating costs. The outcome of these 
proceedings could result in a reduction of Swissgrid’s chargeable 
costs.

As at 31 December 2019, Swissgrid estimates the cumulative 
risk for non-chargeable costs at CHF 75 million. As at 31 December 
2018, the cumulative risk was estimated at CHF 110 million. The 
updated estimate at the end of 2019 took account of financial 
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Proposed appropriation of 
retained earnings
The Board of Directors proposes to the General Assembly that the 
retained earnings be appropriated as follows:

Since legal capital reserves and legal retained earnings have 
reached 50% of the share capital, no more funds will be allocated 
to these accounts.

Aarau, 22 April 2020

For the Board of Directors:
Adrian Bult, Chairman

CHF 2019 2018

Balance carried forward from the previous year 372,091,648.69 340,932,702.88 

Profit for the year 25,208,873.03 63,976,968.02 

Retained earnings 397,300,521.72 404,909,670.90 

Appropriation to the general legal reserves – – 

Dividend payment 31,485,288.01 32,818,022.21 

Balance to be carried forward 365,815,233.71 372,091,648.69 

Total appropriation 397,300,521.72 404,909,670.90 
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Statutory Auditor’s Report 
To the General Meeting of Swissgrid Ltd, Aarau 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Swissgrid Ltd, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 
2019, the income statement and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 52 to 63) for the year ended 31 December 2019 comply with Swiss 
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law 
and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

 

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 

 
Accuracy of the calculation of the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related timing differences 

 
Completeness and accuracy of the net turnover and procurement costs 

 
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 
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Accuracy of the calculation of the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related timing differences 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 For the 2019 financial year Swissgrid reports an EBIT 
(earnings before interest and taxes) of CHF 101.1 mil-
lion. The change in volume- and tariff-related timing 
differences amounts to CHF +21.0 million.  

The EBIT presented in Swissgrid’s financial state-
ments is legally defined as the multiplication of the in-
vested operating assets (regulatory asset base, 
“RAB”) and volume- and tariff-related timing differ-
ences by the applicable regulatory interest rates plus 
taxes. The RAB consists of the transmission grid as-
sets (incl. construction in progress), the intangible as-
sets and the net current assets determined on a 
monthly basis. 

Cost and volume variances between the actual costs 
and income for a year and the costs and income pre-
determined in advance at tariff level for the same year 
lead to so-called volume- and tariff-related timing dif-
ferences. These are deferred separately as surpluses 
or deficits in the balance sheet and must be amortized 
over the coming years. The yearly change is recorded 
separately in the income statement under “Change in 
volume- and tariff-related timing differences”. 

There is a risk that the EBIT and the volume- and tar-
iff-related timing differences are not calculated accord-
ing to the applicable legal and regulatory provisions 
and that, consequently, the EBIT and the volume- and 
tariff-related timing differences are not presented cor-
rectly in the financial statements. 

We have performed mainly the following audit proce-
dures: 

— Identification of the key controls and verification of 
their effectiveness using sampling; 

— Reconciliation of the method used for calculating 
the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related 
timing differences with the legal, administrative and 
regulatory requirements; 

— Recalculation of the interest on the various compo-
nents of the RAB and volume- and tariff-related tim-
ing differences using the interest rates according to 
the legal base (StromVG/StromVV) as well as to 
the decisions and directives of the Swiss Federal 
Electricity Commission (ElCom) and comparison 
with the recorded values;  

— Evaluation of the completeness and transparency 
of the disclosures presented in the financial state-
ments.  

 For further information on the calculation of the regulated EBIT and volume- and tariff-related timing differences 
refer to the notes of the financial statements under note “1. Accounting principles” (paragraphs Changes in ac-
counting estimates and Activities according to StromVG) and under note “9. Extraordinary expenses” as well as 
under note “26. Legal proceedings”. 
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Completeness and accuracy of the net turnover and procurement costs 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 For the 2019 financial year Swissgrid reports a net 
turnover of CHF 672.7 million and the procurement 
costs amount to CHF 224.9 million.  
 
The calculation of the net turnover (performance) and 
procurement costs is based mainly on the energy data 
directly metered on the transmission system or re-
ported from downstream grid levels. For the measure-
ment of performance, regulated tariffs must mainly be 
taken into account; for the procurement costs the ap-
plicable market prices.  
 
Swissgrid’s regulated activities are characterized by a 
high volume of IT-based transactions.  
 
For certain turnover and procurement costs positions, 
no volume base exists at the closing date yet, which 
requires to make estimates and assumptions. 
 
Due to the transaction volume, the various IT inter-
faces and the estimates / assumptions, there is a risk 
that the performance and costs are not calculated 
completely and correctly. 

We have analyzed the process relative to the calcula-
tion of the net turnover and procurement costs and we 
have determined whether the energy data have been 
recorded completely and correctly. In this respect, we 
have among others identified the key controls and we 
have then verified their effectiveness using sampling. 
We have considered the high degree of integration of 
the provision and recording of services by the various IT 
systems by testing the effectiveness of the general IT 
controls and application controls of the relevant IT sys-
tems for accounting purposes with the assistance of our 
IT specialists. 
 
In order to assess the completeness and accuracy, we 
have also critically examined the main assumptions and 
evaluated the accuracy of the forecasts regarding the 
presented accruals, in particular by comparing retro-
spectively the accrued amounts and the actual 
amounts. 
 
Furthermore, we have assessed the appropriateness of 
the disclosures in the financial statements concerning 
the corresponding positions of the balance sheet and in-
come statement.

For further information on the net turnover and the procurement costs refer to the notes of the financial state-
ments under note “2. Estimation uncertainty” and under note “3. Net turnover and procurement costs”. 
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Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement re-
sulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a ma-
terial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or condi-
tions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  
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We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in inter-
nal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with rel-
evant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those mat-
ters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an inter-
nal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the 
instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

 
 
KPMG AG 
 
 
 
 
 
Rolf Hauenstein Beatriz Vazquez 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert 

 
 
 
Basel, 22. April 2020 
 

KPMG AG, Viaduktstrasse 42, PO Box 3456, 4002 Basel 

KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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